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BEGINNINGS BEYOND THE MOUNTAINS 41

_af Virginia communities to make it the center of transmontane civilization. It
ly became the county seat for all the territory to the farthest bounds of
Virginia.
Among these first settlers in Beverley Manor whose title deeds were
recorded in Orange are found many who appear again as the frontier advances.
James Caldwell took 600 acres; George Robinson, 892; James Davis, 570;
Patrick Campbell, 1546; John Wilson, 840; John Davidson, 785; Samuel
Davidson, 253; James McClure, 406; Andrew McClure, 370; George Home,
375; Robert T‘urkmr, 473; Alexander Breckenridge, 245; James
Fulton, 637; Sarah Ramsey, 390; David Edmiston, 350; Robert Campbell, 350;
Nathaniel Patterson, 201; James Robinson, 395; Randales McDonald, 141;
George Anderson, 471; Robert Patterson, 331; Robert Crockett, 322; James
Lesley, 226; David Campbell, 466; Robert )mﬁgl; James Patton,
474; Robert Young, 373; Patrick Hays, 600; John Breckenridge, 684; William
Robinson, 403; Samuel Doag, 647; Francis Beaty, 388; Andrew Russell, 496;
Jacob Lockhart, 436; John Craig, 335; Alexander Campbell, 559; Wm. Thomp-
son, 947; John, Robert and William Christian, 1614; Daniel Monahan, 570;
William Wright, 713; Francis Beaty, 398.
The first deeds from William Beverley recorded in Augusta are dated
August 12 and 18, 1747. From that time on the entries came fast. Before 1750
there were more than a hundred new tracts purchased and a great many of
the original ones subdivided. The foundation families of this settlement were
generally Scotch-Irish that the community came to be known as the “Irish
iwct.” Beverley’s Mill-place on Lewis Creek became the community center /
and there grew up the town of Staunton, the seat of Augusta County.” In e
Chalkley’s Abstracts of the Regg@éﬂ‘or-\ug ta may be found a complete list >
mﬁmﬁﬁBeverl?f and others after the county was organ-
ized. Some of the new names that appear early are James Robertson, purchaser
of 274 acres from John Lewis adjoining John Craig; Samuel Wilson;—461 acres
from George and Robert Breckenridge; David Doak, 300 acres from George
Breckenridge; John Madison, 781 acres from Moses Thompson, of South
Carolina; John Finley, 892 acres from George Robinson; Alexander Henderson,
265 acres from Geo. Hutchison; Samuel Henderson and James Clark 530 and
380 acres from George Hutchison; William Bell, 196 acres from Francis
McCown; James Armstrong, 310 acres from Adam Thompson; Samuel Lusk,:
200 acres from Geo. Breckenridge; Mathew Robertson, 396 acres from John
Moffett; James Cowan, from John Buchanan, yeoman, 374 acres; James
Campbell, 570 acres from James Davis; Robert Patrick, 437 acres from Robert
Turk; David Stewart, 331 acres from Robert McClenachan; John Black, 375
acres from James Davis; James Patton, John Finley, James Alexander and *
William Wright, trustees of Tinkling Spring Congregation, 110 acres from
William Thompson and wife Jean.

—=> 40"
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to survey the planters’ lands and make a map of the country. In 162+ all
rights and powers were resumed by the Crown. It was then provided by act
of the Colonial Assembly, that private planters’ dividends of lands should be
laid off in severalty, and the bounds recorded by the surveyor. Petty differences
were to be decided by the surveyor and important ones were to be referred to
the Governor and Council.

In 1666 the Colony was empowered to make grants of waste and unap-

propriated lands, and iwmre was a general revival of the laws. Three

Ny special acts were passed prescribing the forms of patents, to be granted upon
n:‘ importation rights, upon treasury rights, for forfeited or lapsed lands, and for
\ escheated lands, every form containing a reservation of a fee rent of one shilling

for every fifty acres and a requirement that the premises should be seated and
planted within three years from the date of the grant. This fee rent for each
fifty acres was the so-called guit rent which was waived for the benefit of the
early settlers on the western waters.

b
\ mﬁvery free immigrant to the Colony, other than transient per-

sons, had an @mportation right to fifty acres of land; every imported servant, after the term of
service expired, to fifty acres; every immigrant, bringing with him a wife and children, to
fifty acres for his wife and each child; that the immigrant only, or those to whom he should
assign his rights in the presence of two witnesses, should be entitled to such rights, or certificate
thereof; that proof of such importation rights should be made, on oath, before the general or a
county court, and a certificate thereof produced in the secretary’s office; upon which the
secretary should grant the claimant a certificate; and, on that certificate, any surveyor might
lay off the quantity expressed, on any vacant land, returning the survey to the secretary’s
L office, that a patent might issue.

The Treasury Warrant—On the payment of five shillings for every fifty acres of land, the
receiver-general of the revenues of the Colony was directed to deliver to any person desiring
to take up vacant lands a certificate, upon which the surveyor might lay off for the claimant
the quantity expressed in such treasury warrant, returning the survey to the secretary’s
office that a patent might issue. Each claimant was limited to five hundred acres, unless he
owned five or more tithable servants or slaves, in which case he might take up two acres more
for every such tithable;' and after that grants for more than four thousand acres in any one
tract were prohibited, except in entries before made for larger quantities. Swamps, marshes
and low grounds adjacent to patented high lands could not be taken up till one year after
notice, in the presence of two witnesses, to the patentee of the highlands.

Titles to lands previously granted were confirmed, whether duly recorded
or not, but after that time all patents and the rights on which they were founded
were required to be recorded. Patentees were required to seat and plant the
granted lands within three years. Seating and planting meant the building of
a wooden house twelve feet square, and the clearing and tending of one acre-
A failure to so seat and plant a grant within the prescribed three years meant a
forfeiture of the grant and of the right on which it was founded. Time was ex-

1Tithables were the inhabitants of the colony upon whom a tax might be levied. In early Virginia a tax w3
usually imp: Iy male person Gver sixteen years of age. All white male servants and all imported neg®
slaves were mclude(L The rule vari county was divided into several tax precincts and 4 special commissione”

was appointed ineach to draw up an accurate list of the resident tithables.
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tended to three more years in case of the death of the grantee. If lands were
sorfeited, they might not be patented to another for three years after the date
of the first patent, and not then without an order of the general court. If any
patented tract was found to contain more than the patent expressed, the pat-
cntee might obtain a patent for the surplus.

The Processioning.—Every fourth year the county court was to direct its vestry to lay
o its parish into precincts, and appoint times for processioning between the last days of
Zeptember and March, and two freeholders to see each of the precinets processioned, who were
.o return their reports to the vestry to be registered by the clerk. Three processionings settled
bounds of lands unalterably, provided they were made with the consent of the owners and
.aving the cases of infants, women and persons of unsound mind.

The Surveyors.—Surveyors were commissioned by the masters of William and Mary
College and the government confirmed only such surveys as had been made by surveyors so
mmm‘dssioned. Both surveyors and chain carriers were required to be sworn before the county
~ourt. Surveyors were required to see that every tract surveyed should be plainly bounded,
ither by natural bounds, marked trees or other artificial landmarks, to deliver plats of sur-
+evs to those for whom they were made within six months after the survey was made, and
ot to deliver such plats to any other person till six months had elapsed; to enter every plat
12d survey in a book to be furnished him for that purpose, within two months after the survey
made, indicating all streams crossed in the courses, and the boundaries and adjacent
ciantations; and to return annually, in June, to the county clerk’s office to be recorded there
s of all surveys, specifying for whom made, the quantities surveyed, and where situated.

A penalty was imposed on the surveyor for refusing to survey; and it was
provided that all entries should stand good till the surveyor gave notice that
ze was ready to survey; and if the party failed to attend the surveyor within a
month after such notice, his entry should be void. The county court might
ppoint inspectors of the surveyors’ books to report on their condition and take
care of them in case of the death or removal of the surveyor.

. »The Surveyor’s fees.—The surveyor’s fees were to be paid in tobacco, collected by the
s2eniff, if necessary. For every survey made, plainly bounded as the law directs, and for a

zat of such survey, after the delivery of such plat, where the survey shall not exceed one
“20usand acres of land—500 pounds. For every one hundred acres contained in one survey,
ixd above the first thousand—50 pounds. For surveying a lot in town—20 pounds. For a
sarvey when hindered or stopped before completing the survey, to be paid by the party re-
Tiesting the survey—250 pounds. For running every dividing line between parties—250
»nnds. For surveying an acre of land for a mill—100 pounds. For land formerly patented
=d required to be resurveyed, the same fee as for land not before surveyed. For an inclusive
_'T""e.v, a second fee shall not be paid for the part previously surveyed, but only for the new
;:“"t- For an inclusive survey of several adjacent tracts previously surveyed the plat shall
; made out for ten shillings. For lands surveyed for one party and assigned to another, the
w“@eﬁ shall pay, if the other didn’t. For the benefit of the public tables of fees were to be
7% UP in the secretary’s office and in courthouses.

Indians were not allowed to alienate their lands to any but some of their
::‘ I}Htion. All conveyances from them were declared void and heavy penalties
ute mposed on those who should purchase or procure conveyances from them.
€ncouragement was given to those who would cultivate trade with them.
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HOW SETTLEMENTS ON THE BRANCHES OF THE JAMES AND THE ROANOKE
WERE MADE

Neither Benjamin Borden nor the men to whom he sold land stopped at
the border of his Great Tract. Borden entered a number of tracts below his
line in the Forks of James and on Catawba, a south branch of the James, some
distance away. Robert Poage, George Robinson and John Mathews made a
rush for the valley of Mill Creek, on Poage’s Run, and scattered settlements
were made in different parts of the territory, even before any petitions for large

grants were considered by the council.
The next great step was made on November 3, 1740, when the council
Y entered upon its minutes the following order: “Upon consideration of the
petition of John Smith, Zachary Lewis, William Waller, Robert Green and
M’eme is granted to them to Enter for and Survey one
Hundred thousand acres of lan WWWWI be
in'the County of Augusta when that County shatttake place on the River and
Branches of Roanoke and the Branches of James River.”r This grant is difi-
é&rent from those which the council had been accustomed to give, in that no
specific tract of land is described and no patent could issue for a certain boun-
dary as in the case of Beverley Manor and Borden’s Grant. No further mention
of this grant is found in the minutes of the council and no record is made of it
in the county surveyor’s books or in the land office, except that it is stated in
each survey made for these men that the tract surveyed is a part of the 100,000
acres allowed to them. Small tracts were entered and surveyed for individuals
or for the company at desirable locations selected and the sum of the acreage
taken to make up the whole. From the beginning John Smith was the agent in

\ the field to show purchasers over the land and have their surveys made. B

\ This order of council was renewed in May »114o~ to John Smith and others
for 50,000 acres; and agaln renewed in 17 0, this time to Zachary L L vi for
Accordmm‘mtsfvrtracfs of Tand were to come out in Col.
Patton’s name and he was to give deeds to the people who bought the land on

the payment of their respective sums with the interest due. Buyers thus
avoided the trouble of entering and surveying land and the payment of the
surveyor’s and quit rent fees. Money received from the sale of lands ‘was to
be divided into six shares, after expenses and 109 commission for Col/Patton
had been deducted.>

In the first five-year period the company failed to get many survéys made.

S—

1Minutes of the Council, P. R. O. Colonial Office, London, Class 5, Volume 1423.
2Will of James Patton, Augusta Will Book 2, 131.
Smith vs. Patton's Executors, Chalkley’s Abstracts Book 1, 361. (In 1767 John Smith filed a claim against
Patton’s executors for services rendered the company from 1741 to 1751.)
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Individuals on their own initiative were going ahead with selections and entries~. =
7/ Nhich were being surveyed by James Wood, the surveyor of Orange County. ~y
1'he surveys and plats for the first grants in this territory were not preserved A
in the Orange records and no trace of them has been found in the secretary’s ‘}/
office. But from the grants themselves, which were properly recorded, and from 5\3))

the deeds recorded in Orange, Augusta and Botetourt Counties, we may get a P
fairly complete record. After the organization of Augusta county surveys for 5

the company and for others were regularly made and recorded by the county }Eﬁ)
surveyor and his deputies. Tt is from these Augusta surveys that we are able »;4: ;
to carry forward the account of the early western settlements. ‘/ §

The company finally played out and we do not know how much land to
charge to its account. The exact procedure used by these men in handling this
land is not made clear by any records we have found. John Smith was the only
one of the group who was actively interested in the settlement. Presumably,
he was in_the territory Irom the time the grant was made. Where he first
lived cannot be ascertained. He owned Jand at the Great Lick on Roanoke,
a@@jﬁiﬂé?ﬂ 1755 he was found building a fort around the
'ho/uske. Later in the same year Gov. Dinwiddie referred to him as an experienced
woodsman whose judgment could be followed in planning against the Indians.
In the summer of 1756 after his return from the Shawnee Expedition he with
his sons helped to defend Vause’s Fort from which he was taken by his captors
to the French Dominions. On his return to the Colony he joined Col. Byrd’s
expedition against the Cherokees, sold his tract of land at the Great Lick and

aired to Looney’s Ferry where he continued to live as a citizen of Augusta
«..d Botetourt counties. He seems to have been exempt from road service and
other civic duties, and is seldom mentioned, except as a soldier. Whatever
advertising methods he and Col. Patton used to bring people into the colony
were effective, and the methods used in getting them established in their homes
were successful. Of the other men:—

Zachary Lewis, a lawyer of large wealth and practice in Spotsylvania
county, was the son of Zachary Lewis of Wales, and son-in-law of Col. John
Waller, of Spotsylvania. He was born in 1702 and died in 1765. He had re-
leased his interest in this grant in 1761. ~

William Waller was a son of Col. John Waller, born in 1714. He represented
Spotsylvania County in the house of burgesses for eight vears. He died in 1760.

Benjamin Waller was an older brother of William Waller. He was a law-
ver who moved to Williamsburg and became clerk of the Council and burgess
for James City county. From 1776—1785 he was judge of the state admiralty
and the state general courts. He died in 1786.

Robert Green came from England to Virginia in 1712 with his uncle,
William Duff, a Quaker. He represented Orange County in the house of bur-
gesses in 1736 and in 1788. He died in 1748 leaving six sons who became the
ancestors of many distinguished men.
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e branches of Cedar Creek. Sold to James McGavock, 1757. Au. D. Bk.
+03.

v on Cedar Creek of James.

v 15, 1747, “Captain James Montgomery, gent., living at the Cutappa
prior to 15th July, 17477 Brown vs. Smith—Augusta Court Judgments,
Aug. 1747. (Chalkley 1, 296)

James Montgomery came from Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. His
son Robert bought the 654 acres on Catawba, agreeing as part payment to
bring two uncommon large bells from Pennsylvania.:

March 18, 1747, James Young from the Bordens, sold by Benj. Sr., 400
acres; corner to John Allison on the banks of the river at the mouth of Whistle
Creek. Au. D. Bk. 1, 479.

March 5, 1747, William Snodgrass—Grants, 400 acres on Sinking Spring
Branch of Catawba; 140 acres on the west side of James River (1756).

August 26, 1747, Charles Milligan—Grant, 297 acres on the east side of
Looney’s Mill Creek, from Patrick Hays. £22, Pat. June 30, 1743.

August 20, 1747, David Cloyd—Grants, 400 acres on a north branch of
James River; 400 acres at the head of a north branch; 400 acres on a south
branch of Cedar Creek; 262 acres on Persimmon Run of James River.

October 1, 1747, Robert Poage—Grants, 250 acres on Catawba; 263 acres
at Fork Bottom on Catalpa at the end of Cross Mountains; 350 acres at Indian
Camp on Catalpa; 200 acres on Catawba.
= October 1, 1747, John McDowell—Grant, 400 acres on the branches of
€ ur Creek of the James.

October 1, 1747, Richard Burton, Farmer—400 acres on James River

west side of the Blue Ridge from John Doak. Pat. Jan. 12, 1746.
October 1, 1747, John Smith, Surveys—390 and 500 acres on Cedar Creel\’]
adjoining David Cloyd. o —

In January, February and March of 1747 James Trlmble John Poage and
Thomas Lewis all made surveys for the Company, on both the James River
and the Roanoke. The first tracts were scattered over the whole territory.
Numbers 43 to 77 were on the upper branches of Craig’s Creek, 78 to 100 were
on Broad Spring Branch, Buffalo, Cedar and Mill Creeks on the north side of
the James. These were made by James Trimble. Numbers 101 to 118 were
made by John Poage and Thomas Lewis. All are recorded in the Augusta
County Surveyor’s Books. Patents for these tracts were issued to James
Patton in 1750.

February 15, 1747, Joseph Paxton—285 acres, the narrows, on North
Branch of James River. From Robert Allison. Au. D. Bk. 2, 95.

February 17, 1747, James McAfee, Farmer—at a place called Cedar
Swamp, on Holstein’s Branch.

1Dep. of James Montgomery, Jr. 1747, Chalkly I, 274.

N
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February 17, 1747, James McAfee, Farmer—350 acres at a place Calles
Indian Camp on Catapa. opposite the mouth of Holstein’s Branch. )

February 18, 1747, William Henderson, Farmer—350 acres at the Moyt
of Buffalo Creek. From John Davidson. Au. D. Bk. 1, 466. =

April 5, 1747, Erwin Patterson—Grant, 381 acres on a branch of Mi
Creek, between Mill Creek and Ann Sally Hill. Pat. Bk. 26, 305.

April 5, 1747, William Snodgrass—Grant, 400 acres on Lick Creel o
Catawba. .

April 5, 1747, Samuel Porter—Grant, 381 acres below the Forks of Bufial,

April 5, 1747, James Moore—Grant, 325 acres on the northeast side o
North Branch.

April 5, 1747, John Stephenson—Grant, 262 acres on a branch of Bufaj,

April 5, 1747, Richard Burton—Grant, 400 acres on Buffalo adjoinin:
Borden’s land. )

April 12, 1747, David Cloyd—400 acres on Persimmon Branch of Jame:
River. From John Mills. Au. D. Bk. 1, 523.

May 8, 1747, John Allison—291 acres on southwest side of North Branct.
cor. Gilbert Campbell and John Moore. From Benj. Borden.

May 10, 1747, John Poage—Grant, 244 acres on James River called
Poage’s Farm.

May 20, 1747, John Moore—3504 acres, 1 R—20 P.; corner of Josep:.
Lapsley and Gilbert Campbell. From Benj. Borden. Au. D. B. 1, 529.

May 21, 1747, Alexander Ritchey, blacksmith—400 acres on James River
above the mouth of Craig’s Creek. From Alex. Duglas, heir-at-law of Roger
Duglas, late of Augusta County, deceased. Au. D. Bk. 1, 535.

August 18, 1747, Joshua Hadley—400 acres in the forks of James River
and Craig’s Creek. From Rev. John Craig and Isabella Hellena. Au. D. Bk
2, 48.

August 20, 1747, Daniel Luney—Grant, 180 acres on a branch of James
River called Long Run.

September 20, 1747, David Cloyd—Grant, 400 acres on North Branch of
James, joining Wm. Mills.

September 20, 1747, James Patton—Grant, 150 acres on a branch of James
River.

September 20, 1747, William Thompson—Grant, 139 acres on west side
of Blue Ridge. X

September 20, 1747, Samuel Martin—Grant, 150 acres on west side ®
Blue Ridge.

April 1, 1749, James Patton—Grant, 337 acres on north side of Jame
River.

April 1, 1749, James Patton—Grant, 400 acres on the branches of the
James.

April 1, 1749, James Patton—Grant, 60 acres on James River.
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_April 1, 1749, James Patton—Grant, 258 acres on James River.
lay 3. 1749, Robert Moore—Grant, from John Moore and Margaret,
on Wood’s Creek.
May 12, 1749, William Mitchell—Grant, 400 acres from John Mitchell,
Borden’s line. g
May 17, 1749, Elizabeth Taylor becomes Administratrix of "E‘homas
Taylor, deceased. Land on Cedar Creek, Corner of Robert Poage.
May 17, 1749, James Letherdale, Blacksmith—Grant by deed, 366 acres on
Luney’s Mill Creek, from John Harrison, Jr. Au. Deed Bk. 2, 287.
August 19, 1749, Samuel McRoberts—Grant, 287 acres on Catawba from
James Wood. Gent., of Frederick.
May 18, 1749, John Harrager (Harger)—400 acres from Benj. Borden,
pat. to Benj. Borden, Sr., Au. Deed Bk. 2, 225.
May 18, 1749, James Davis—400 acres on Buffalo Creek, Joining Bor-
den. corner Richard Wood, from Richard Burton and Ann. Au. Deed Bk. 4, 7.
+ August 22, 1749, William Anderson—460 acres on North Branch of James
River, from Silas Hart, Mason. Au. Deed Bk. 2, 278.
November 27, 1749, Henry Kirkham—262 acres on Buffalo Creek, from
John Stephenson, Au. D. Bk. 2, 324.
November 29, 1749, William Hudson and John Clyde of Pennsylvania
350 acres on North Branch above the mouth of Buffalo. From William Hender-
son. Au. D. Bk. 2, 393.
A_\'m'ember 30, 1749, John Ramsey—400 acres in the Forks of James, from
W am Russell of Culpeper. Au. D. Bk. 2, 387.
December 15, 1749, Robert Renick—Grant, 300 acres called Timber
Plains on a head branch of Cedar Creek.
December 15, 1749, John Mathews, Grant. 296 acres on northwest side of
Mill Creek.
December 15, 1749, James McAfee, Sr.—Grant. 300 acres on Catawba, a
branch of James River. . .
December 15, 1749, Thomas Williams—Grant. 400 acres in Forks of
James, corner to Erwin Patterson.
December 15, 1749, Thomas Williams—Grant, 128 acres on Poplar
Spring of North Fork.
December, 1749, Robert Poage—Grant. 380 acres above the tract sur-
veyed for Stephen Holstein on Cataba.
December, 1749, Henry Switchard—Grant, 168 acres adjoining Borden,
north of Catawba.
December, 1749, James Carr—Grant, 325 acres on Broad Creek, a branch
of Buffalo.
_ 1750, John Maxwell—Survey, 120 acres on the south side of James River.
C 1750, John irvey, 200 acres on -Lu}pgs_Ri‘vgj’.
1750, Franci
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1750, Thomas Ramsey—Survey, 310 acres on James River. August
~x ey, 154 acres in James River. scres on Bu
1750, Moses McClure—Grant, 165 acres on south side of North Branch at August
a place called Spreading Spring. on the bran«
1750, James McDowell—Grant, 400 acres in the Forks of James. August
January 4, 1750, Peter Wallace from Mathew Young and Agnes, 150: scres on Cal
acres, bought by James Young from Borden, Recorded in Orange. Conveye: August
by James to Mathew. On Whistle Creek of James River; Corner to Low ToAdi part of the E
Au. D. Bk. 3, 160. August
February 25, 1750, Peter Wallace from Samuel Woods and William on Catuba (
120 acres in Forks of James, part of Wm. Wood’s land, where Peter nox Cedar Sprin,
liveth; Joseph Lapsleys’ line; Richard Wood’s line. Au. D. Bk. 3, 165. Au. D.Bk. ¢
February 18, 1750, Alex. McClure from James Moore and Jean, 163 August
acres on North Branch of James River where Francis Allison lives. Au. D. Mill Creek a
Bk. 3, 169. October
June 15, 1750, Nathan McClure from James Moore and Jean—160 acres $40 acres on ]
on North Branch of James; corner Francis Allison. Au. D. Bk. 3, 404. 1750, L

1750, James Patton—Grants, 220 acres in the Forks of James; 197 acre James on W1

on Craig’s Creek; 186 acres on Cr. s Creek; 244 acres on Craig’s Creek; 115 Novemb
acres on north side of James; 130 acres on a branch of Catawba. acres on Buft
March 31, 1750, William Todd, from Robert Young—400 acres on Nort: Novemb
Branch of Buffalo Creek, Benj. Borden’s line. Au. D. Bk. 2, 749. tract of 2,88
May, 1750, John McClenachan, from Benj. Borden—359 acres on Cat"w acres in the 1
part of 3553 patented to Benjamin Borden, March 9, 1740. Au. D. Bk. 2,77 He has purch
May 18, 1750, Matthew Young from James Young, Miller, 15014 acres Novemb:
where Matthew lives on Whistle Creek, cor. Low Todd. Au. D. Bk. 2, 749. lot No. 8, the
May 28, 1750, William Logan from James Patton, Gent.—400 acres i Possession of
the Forks of James, patented to William Crosthwaite, February 12, 1742 Novembhe¢
conveyed to Patton by Timothy Crosthwaite, eldest son, March 27, 1746. Av to John Boyd
D. Bk. 2, 785. . Novembe

(In November 1749 William Logan, blacksmith, conveyed to Silas Ha north Branch

400 acres on North River of Shannadore, corner to John Smith’s land‘.‘ P 1750, Jan
ented to Robert Breckenridge December T, T740 and conveyed to Willia= Grant and by

July 22, 1745. Elizabeth, wife of William. Au. D. Bk. 2, 360) were made fo)
May 23, 1750, William Hall from John Collier and Sisely—212 acres ¢= John Smith v
Buffalo Creek whereon John lives. Au. D. Bk. 2, 729. Patton to the
June, 1750, James Arbuckle—Grant, 400 acres on James River. : Sums with inte
July 10, 1750, John Paxton of Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, if o t?an agreemer
Henry Kirkham, 198 acres on Wood’s Creek corner to Joseph Lapsley- AG Part for £7
Bk. 2, 849. Patton’s hook
July 10, 1750, Robert Poage—Grant, 950 acres on Mill Creek. t spring. (
August 25, 1750, Robert Berrisford, Farmer, from John Matthews, Gent verley. The

and Ann, 296 acres on the branches of the James. Au. D. Bk. 2, 805. nor. Ay, [
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August 21, 1750, Jonathan Whitley from Paul Whitley and Sarah, 200
acres on Buffalo Creek where Paul now lives. Au. D. Bk. 2, 817.

August, 1750, John Poage, Farmer, from James Patton, Gent., 238 acres
on the branches of the James. Au. D. Bk. 2, 845.

August 28, 1750, Thomas Hadley from Benj. Borden, Jr., Gent., 334
acres on Catauba Creek, part of 3,553 acres—Pat. 1740. Au. D. Bk. 2, 860.

August 29, 1750, Joshua Hadley from Benj. Borden, Jr., Gent., 345 acres
part of the Borden’s 2880 acres on Catabo. Au. D. Bk. 2, 854. 4

August 29, 1750, John Marshall from Benj. Borden, Jr., Gent., 259 acres i
on Catuba Creek, part of 3553, pat. 1740. Au. D. Bk. 2, 857. 182 acres on
Cedar Spring Branch of Catabo Creek, Patented to Borden August 20, 1745.
Au. D. Bk. 2, 851. 19 acres, part of 2880 on Cataba. Au. D. Bk. 2, 863.

August 30, 1750, John Maxwell from Erwin Patterson, 381 acres between
Mill Creek and Ann Sally Hill. Au. D. Bk. 2, 876.

October 2, 1750, James Hughey from James Boyd, of Lunenburg County,
340 acres on Looney’s Mill Creek; Patented February 12, 1742. Au. D. Bk. 3, 10.

1750, Low Todd, carpenter from James Young, 251 acres in Forks of
James on Whistle Creek where Todd liveth. Bk. 2, 744.

November 24, 1750, Alexander Beggs and James Trimble and Sarah, 250
acres on Buffalo Creek, corner to Silas Hart. Au. D. Bk. 8, 77.

November 26, 1750, James Davice from Benj. Borden, 626 acres in the
tract of 2,880 acres on Catuba Creek of James River in exchange for 626
acres in the tract of 8,100 acres. Davice conveys the latter back to Borden. It

r\{e has purchased this in 1746. Au. D. Bk. 8, 55 and 57. 1

November 27, 1750, Gabriel Jones from Benj. Borden, 190 acres being the #
lot No. 8, the lowest in The tract of 2880 acres on Cautaper Creek, now in ‘
Possession of John McPharring. Au. D. Bk. 3, 35. ]

November 28, 1750, John Stevenson from Benj. Borden, 149 acres corner
to John Boyd and Greenlee. Au. D. Bk. 3, 43.

November 28, 1750, William Porter from Benj. Borden, 112 acres on
north Branch of James at said Porter’s Patent, Bk. 3, 48.

1750, James Patton became a partner in the James River and the Roanoke
Grant and by appointment began to direct the affairs of the company. Surveys
were made for Zachary Lewis and the patents were issued in Patton’s name.
John Smith was appointed to see the land surveved. Deeds were given by

Pitton to the people that bought the land on their paying their respective

sums with interest due. The money was to be divided into six shares according

t? an agreement signed by the members of the company. M

hispartfor £75, £50 laid out as his part of fees and righits when such sums as _ N
E@H@’&mﬁd—lﬂ% were _deducted. Fifty surveys were made
that spring. (James Patton Jived on a tract of land purchased from William
BEVerley. The deed was recorded February 22, 1749. 1398 acres in Beverley
Manor. Au. D. Bk. 2, 524.) )
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- November 28, 1751, John \prout 320 acres on Broad Spring Branch of

James. —— ——————— =
" November 28, 1751 Smi 5 s on Craig’s Creek?\

,/O\ember 28 17 Wes on
Broad Creek, corner James Carr—Au. D. Bk. 4, 146.

November 28, 1751, Mary Douchart, 170 acres on Mill Creek in Forks of
James. Corner of

November 28, 1751, James \Ioore, 197 acres on a branch of James. Cor.
ner John Harris. .

November 28, 1751, Joseph Long, 50 acres on Buffalo Creek of James,

November 28, 1751, John Berrisford, 120 acres on McDowell’s Meadow
Run in Forks of James, Survey of John Mathews.

November 28, 1751, John Douchert, 94 acres at Indian Camp on Craig's
Creek.

Sales continued through 1752, 1753, 1754.

November 18, 1752, William Hall, 100 acres on Buffalo Creek of James.
Corner William Hall.

November 18, 1752, William Graham, 160 acres on Lee’s Creek of Ca-
tawba.

November 18, 1752, Adam Looney, 271 acres on Meadow Run, or Bryan's
Creek.

November 18, 1752, Charles Milligan, 60 acres at head of Looney’s Creek.

Y November 18, 1752, John Walker and Alexander Walker, 185 acres on

Broad Creek of Forks of James.

November 18, 1752, Robert Poage, 104 acres on Cedar Creek, Forks
James. Corner Thomas Taylor’s Line, Corner McDowell and William Mills.

March 21, 1753, William Scott, 100 acres on Middle Lick Run of Catawba.

March 21, 1753, John Peteet, 40 acres on James River, corner James
Greenlee.

March 21, 1753, Robert Kirkum, 33 acres on James River.

March 21, 1753, William Caruthers, 180 acres on Bradshaw’s Creek.

March 21, 1753, George Stevenson, 220 acres on Poage’s Draft of James
River.

May 17, 1753, John Sprout, 285 acres on a Draft of James.

¢~ May 17, 1753, Capt. John Smith, 213 acres on Craig’s Creek>

—November 22, 1753, John Potts, 124 acres on Cmms Creek. Au. D. Bk
5, 376.
November 22, 1753, Patrick Downey, — acres on Craig’s Creek.

November 22, 1753, Henry Holdston, Sr., 181 acres on Craig’s Creek.
December 17, 1753, George Friedly, 100 acres on Craig’s Creek.
December 17, 1753, William Plummer, 218 acres on Craig’s Creek.
March 18, 1754, Peter Looney, 250 acres on Craig’s Creek, head of Mead-

ow Creek.

| tawba.

Oc
6-0.
De
Creek.
De:
Dec
Dec
Dec
Ma
Ma;
Creek of
Ma;
Borden.
Aug
head bra
ker. Au.
Aug
acres in t
Augt
129 acres
Creek anc
Augu
400 acres
478.
1752,
Long Ben
1752,
1752,
line, from
1752,

Nover
McClure n
Noven
acres on By
1746. Au. 1
Noven
Mary, 214
9 11.
Novem
Ames, cor.
1752, R
Novem





image20.jpeg
SETTLEMENTS ON BRANCHES OF JAMES AND ROANOKE RIVERS 77

October 8, 1754, Henry Holston, 146 acres on Forks of John’s Creek, £7—
@M)-0.
December 18, 1754, Frederick Hartsough, 130 acres on Forks of John’s
Creek.
December 18, 1754, Matthew Patton, 266 acres on Forks of John’s Creek.
December 18, 1754, Robert Williams, 275 acres on Forks of John’s Creek.
December 18, 1754, Henry Maurice, 246 acres on Forks of John’s Creek.
December 18, 1754, Placard Sciler, 162 acres on Forks of John’s Creek. -

(March 21, 1754, Abraham Smith, 86 acres on Forks of Mulberry Bottom.

May 20, 1752, Thomas Hadley from Benj. Borden, 399 acres on Catuba
Creek of James River, part of 2880 acres. Au. D. Bk. 4, 853.

May 20, 1752, Samuel McClure, 282 acres on Wood’s Creek, from Benj.
Borden. Au. D. Bk. 4, 256.

August 17, 1752, John Mackee from Mary Douchart, 170 acres on the
head branch of Mill Creek in the Forks of the James. Corner of Samuel Wal-
ker. Au. D. Bk. 4, 483.

August 20, 1752, James Greenlee from Thomas Williams and Jane, 400
acres in the Forks of James, by Erwin Patterson’s survey. Au. D. Bk. 4, 487.

August 20, 1752, John Mathews, Jr., from Thomas Williams and Jane,
129 acres on Poplar Spring Branch of North Branch of James, between Mill
Creek and the river. Michael Dougherty’s line. Au. D. Bk. 4, 476.

August 20, 1752, Thomas Wilson from William Mitchell, son of John,
400 acres on Broad Spring Branch of James, by Borden’s line. Au. D. Bk. 4,
M.

1752, Robert McClenachan, Grant—242 acres on Buffalo Creek, opposite
Long Bent Whisky Hill.

1752, Stephen Arnold—Grant, 835 acres on Taylor’s Branch of Buffalo.

1752, Joseph Lapsley, 400 acres in Forks of James, Wood’s Creek, Borden’s
line, from James McDowell, Au. D. Bk. 9, 340.

1752, Samuel Thompson—Grant, 400 acres on Gibbon’s Branch of Ca-
tawba.

November 4, 1752, John Paxton, 50 acres on Wood’s Creek where Samuel
McClure now liveth, from Samuel McClure and Mary. Au. D. Bk. 5, 8.

November 10, 1752, James Gilmer from James Wood, of Frederick, 400
acres on Buffalo Creek of North Fork of James, Patented to Wood January 12,
1746. Au. D. Bk. 4, 523.

November 16, 1752, William Cleghorn, blacksmith, from John Poage and
Mary, 214 acres on Cedar Creek of James. By Francis McCown. Au. D. Bk.
sl

November 28, 1752’00 acres on Broad Spring Branch of
James, cor. James Wood, from Benj. Borden. Au. D. Bk. 4, 190.

1752, Robert Norrice—Grant, 160 acres.
November 20, 1752, William Preston was commissioned assistant surveyor

or

i
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December 15, 1753, James Lauderdale, 150 acres on Looney’s Mill Cree
joining his own and Harbison's land.

December 18, 1753, John Neely, 220 acres on Catawba joining his ow
land.

December 23, 1753, Frederick Hartsough, 284 acres on Craig’s Cree]
(Had recently purchased 130 acres.)

December 21, 1753, Henry Holston, Jr., 75 acres on John’s Creek. (Henr
Sr., had recently purchased 181 acres on Craig’s Creek.) ]

December 21, 1753, Frederick Shore, 70 acres on John’s Creek.

1753, James Hollis, 395 acres on Catawba.

1753, Luke McSherry, 186 acres on Back Creek of James River.

1753, James Lauderdale, 143 acres on Back Creek of James.

1753, Paul Garrison, 137 acres on Catawba.

1753, George Hollins, 149 acres on Catawba.

1753, Henry Switchard. 85 acres on Back Creek of James. =

January 30, 1753, John Smith, 230 acres on James River —(Surveyed b

K James Trimble.) /

February 16, 1753, William Henley, 120 acres on Cedar Creek.

March 11, 1753, John Neely, 60 acres on Catawba joining where he live

April 14, 1753, John Mills and David Miller, 250 acres on Milligan’s Ru
of James River and joining Edward McDonald.

April 14, 1753, James Neely, 125 acres on James joininn his own land.

April 29, 1753, John Cloyd, 200 acres on Catawba joining tract of Ce
Wood.

May 2, 1753, John Marshall, 120 acres on Catawba—joining his own lan¢

February 27, 1754, Robert Breckenridge, Grant, 300 acres in the Forks
James.

March 21, 1754, Mary Chittem, relict of Philip Chittem, 318 acres on
west branch of Cedar Creek at a place called Poage Farm. Au. D. Bk. 6, 24

March, 1754, William Miller, 155 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Patric
Downing. Au. D. Bk. 6, 185.

April 25, 1754, Sampson Mathews, 180 acres on North Branch of Jamt
River, from John Peter Salling and Ann. Au. D. B. 6, 277.

April 80, 1754, Abraham Brown, 480 acres corner John Paxton, Alexand¢
McCorkel and Samuel McClure, from Borden’s Executors. Au. D. Bk. 6, 26

August 21, 1754, Joseph Lapsley, Gent., 1 acre adjoining said Lapsley
old survey where he now lives. Au. D. B. 6, 403.

August 22, 1754, John Allison and Elizabeth, 195 acres on Mill Creek ¢
James River joining Samuel Walker and John Poage. Au. D. Bk. 6, 389.

September 18, 1754, Absalom Looney, 180 acres on Long Run, a bran¢
of James River, cor. Robert Looney, Sr., from Daniel Looney. Au. D. Bk. 6, 4T

September 26, 1754, William Preston, 626 acres on Catawba, from Taﬂ“
Davis. £215. Au. D. Bk. 6, 480. {
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) September 26, 1759, John Smith, Gent. from Benj. Davis of Orange (T]
)
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May 12, 1759, John Mills—Grant, 130 acres on Long Run of James River
Pat. Bk. 34, 308. )

August 18, 1759, James Davis from Wm. Hall and Margaret of North
Carolina, 212 acres on a branch of Buffalo Creek by John Collier’s land. A
D. Bk. 8, 16%7.

August 14, 1759, John Collier from Michael Finney and Catherine, 104
acres in Forks of James. Au. D. Bk. 8, 164.

August 15, 1759, Margaret Clarke, Administratrix of Robert Clarke, wit},
John Smith and James Davis, sureties. Will Bk. 2, 327.

Robert Clarke died on Looney’s Mill Creek—land from Hugh Caruthers.
Deed to Margaret, 1760, Au. D. Bk. 8, 348.

August 10, 1759, Robert Sloan—Grants, 264 acres on Lunies Mill Creek:
300 acres on Mill Creek.

August 13, 1759, William Preston from John Marshall of Orange County.
North Carolina, 200 acres in two surveys on Catawba Creek, cor. Borden's
Patent line, Top of Mount Hadley. £50. Au. D. Bk. 8, 176.

August 16, 1759, John Bowyer, guardian to Martha Borden, orphan of
Benj. Borden, with Richard Wood, Israel Christian, Felix Gilbert. Au. W,

N. C. 100 acres on south side of James River; corner Robert Looney.

Au. D. Bk. 8, 220.

-

William Preston and John Stevenson. Au. Will Bk. 2, 349. PG

January 2, 1759, James Lockhart from William Lusk, mortgage, 200 acres
in Borden’s Tract where William lives, bounded by Isaac Taylor, David Lrle
and Jane Snelling; 14 of 400 acres on James River, formerly belongi 0
Andrew Gahagen obtained by William Lusk, James Lockhart and Robe!
Breckenridge by a judgment in General Court for a lapsed law. Also 15 of 400
acres on Roanoke, formerly James Burke’s obtained in the same way. Amount
£166-13-0. Au. D. Bk. S. 108. (Andrew Gahagen accompanied Col. John
Buchanan from Catawba west when on his way to Wood’s River in 174
Diary of John Buchanan. He was in Captain Robinson’s Company 1742
Removed out of the County—1755—Au. Orders of Court.)

1759, James Beats—Grant. 140 acres on Muddy Run by the end of 3h
Hill. )

1759, George Reed—Grants, 200 acres on Catawba; 170 acres on Cataws
joining Poage; 240 acres on Catawba; 140 acres on Catawba.

August 10, 1759, William Lusk—Grant, 220 acres on north side of Butale

August 18, 1759, John and Samuel McMurtrey, from Borden’s Execute™
292 acres, cor. Wm. Hall's now Borden’s; cor. James Young. Au.D. Bk 8. 2%

1759, William Holman—Grant, 370 acres in Forks of James, by Michae:

Finney.

]\/ November 23, 1759, John Smith, Administrator of Benj. Davis, with |
v
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September 21, 1759, John Sommers from John Colyer and Sisely, 44 acres
AJ' Colyer’s Creek, patented 1756; corner to John Colyer; corner to Robert
Huston. Au. D. Bk. 8, 225.
1760, “All the surveys made before this, 1760, were settled for with the
College in March 1761.”  Willi g5 Wurveyor’s Book.
February 17,4758, Col. James Patton’s Estate;\appraised by Thomas
Stewart, John Ramsey and.Edward Hall.
Bonds, bills, etc., due the estate Tor lan tchased. Those credited with
payment in 1769 when William Preston became Executor are marked x.
Luke McCherry, 22nd February, 1755; John Miller and Charles Springer,
1st April, 1751; Mathew Patton, 17th December, 1753; Paul Garrison, 16th
February, 1754; Jacob Patton and Peter Tarr, 18th December, 1753; William
_Lees, 17th December, 1753; Henry Holston, 17th December, 1753; Conrad
Harchy, 18th December, 1753; Nathan Nicholas, 14th January, 1755; Plackard
Sciler, 18th December, 1755; Peter Upsher, 20th December, 1758; Patrick
Downey and Adam Looney, 4th October, 1758; Tobias Bright, 18th Decem-
ber, 1753; Peter Looney, 6th March, 175+; Hance Maurice, 20th December,
1753; George Peter Tarr and Henry Holston, Sr., 17th December, 1753;
Michael Finney, 12th December, 1753; John Kighter, 21st April, 1753;
William Scott, 4th April, 1748; James Hollis. 4th April, 1753; John Mills and
Erwin Patterson, 3rd August, 1753; George Reed, 13th December, 1752; John
Donaly, 4th February, 1754; William Plummer, 18th December, 1753; Thomas
Camp, 16th December, 1754; John Moore. 7th February, 1755; Palser Melser,
Ath January, ——; Charles Milligan, 3rd October, 1753; Henry Holston, 4th
uctober, 1753; Charles Milligan, 13th April, 1748; Charles Milligan, 20th
December, 1753; Stephen Arnold, 6th February, 1749-50; Henry Holston, 4th
October, 1753; Benj. Watson and Robert Rennix, 15th November, 1754;
Samuel Arnold, 15th March, 1751; Frederick Hartsough, 18th December,
1753; William Ritchie, 2nd December, 1751; Patrick Downey and Adam
Looney, 4th October, 1753; George Reed, 13th December, 1752; George
Stevenson, 8th December, 1752; Thomas Hill, 18th February, 1753; Robert
Kirkham, 18th February, 1753; Gilbert Crawford, 20th April, 1753; John
McCully, 20th April, 1753; Henry Holston. 13th December, 1753; Robert
Williams, December 17th, 1753; Mathew and Jacob Patton, 17th December,
1753; Reece Watkins, December 17th, 1753; George Peter Tarr, 17th Decem-
ber, 1753; William Plummer, 10th December, 1753; Placard Sciler, 18th
December, 1753; Frederick Hartsough and Placard Sciler, 18th December,
1753; Conrad Harchy, 18th December, 1753; John Stedham, Jacob Patton,
George Peter Tarr, 19th December, 1753; Peter Upsher, 20th December, 1758;
Hance Maurice, 20th December, 1753; Charles Mitts, 20th December, 1753;
xWilliam Ralston and James Moore, 2nd September, 1761; xMichael
Dougherty, 12th September, 1750; John Maxwell, 26th August, 1752; xJames
Armstrong, 18th August, 1758; xJames Armstrong, 2nd December, 1751;
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David Kinkade, 23rd January, 1751; James Price and Arthur Walls, 4th
October, 1754; Major John Smith, 4th October, 1754; William Ritchie and
James Price, 4t October, 1754: John Bowen, 15th April, 1748; Col. John
Buchanan, 17th January, 1755; Hugh Caruthers, 6th May, 1754; William
Snodgrass, 4th October, 1753; John Poage and Alexander Miller, 3rd February,
; Thomas Ramsey, 13th December, 1753; John Berrisford, 4th December,
1753; Benj. Watson and Robert Rennix, 15th March, 1751; Joseph Potts, 1st
January, 1753; Peter Upsher, 18th December, 1753; Henry Holston, 4th
October, 1753; John Downing, 7th August, 1754; Thomas Ramsey, 14th April,
1748; Henry Switsard, 24th February, 1755; Josiah Ramsey, 24th February,
Samuel McRoberts : xIsaac Taylor ;John Anderson, 15th August,
1753; Walter Smiley——; Nathaniel Evans, 17th July, 1753; Francis McCown,
13th August, 1753; Francis McCown, 22nd November, 1753; xWilliam
Buchanan ; William Hall——: Edward Hall ;Jacob Patton: :xJames
Moore——; Patrick Sharkey, 13th August, 1753; xDaniel Droudy, 13th August,
1753; James Lockhart, 13th August, 1753; John Rorty, 13th August, 1753;
Walter Davis, 13th August. 1753; Charles Patrick, 13th August, 1753; Robert
Christian, 13th August, 1753: xJohn Sprout, 13th August, 1753; Andrew
Haislip, 13th August, 1753; xWilliam Patterson, 13th August, 1753; xJames
Moore ;xJohn McClure——: xRobert Galloway——; xRobert Armstrong
for McCord Mill Place.

Secriox III. EARLY ADVENTURERS ON THE ROANOKE, 1740-1760,
AND THE LAND THEY OCCUPIED

As in the Great Valley and on the upper branches of the James River early
adventurers on the Roanoke were home-seekers rather than explorers and
land-grabbers. There was the usual looking over the ground and discrimination
in making selections of home sites and fertile tracts of land, and many indi-
viduals “took up” a number of small disconnected tracts to avoid unnecessary
acreage in creek bluffs and untillable hillsides; but in the main each newcomer
took the next best location available and settled down to making the improve-
ments necessary to perfect the title to his claims. Some staked off claims and
then migrated farther to the South or West or returned to the more settled
communities in the North or East. One’s being on the ground is a matter of
interest to us and a record to that effect is an item to be included here. It so
happens that we get our earliest dates of actual residence from records other
than those of the land books. Among such records are the rolls of the militia
companies of Augusta County for the year 1742, notes given to Col. Patton for
land purchased, sale bills for purchases made at some public sale, and orders
made for the building or upkeep of neighborhood roads.

Only a few names appear in the land records for this region as early as
1742, but in determining the location of the residences of the men enrolled in
Capt. George Robinson’s Company of Militia of that date we find that all of
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two mountains. Land Grants, Bk. 32, 706 (June 1, 1750 John Mason had
oceived grants for 730 acres and 550 acres on Bears Element and Wayua
Creeks south of the Blue Ridge. Land Grants, Bk. 30, 4. He seems to have
belonged to the eastern part of Brunswick county before coming to the Roa-
noke.); David Miller, 120 acres joining Baptist McNabb and Edward
McDonald. Land Grants, Bk. 33, 1085.

March 10, 1756, John McFall, 220 acres on Glade Creek of Roanoke,
joining John Bowen; 141 acres on a branch of Goose Creek. Land Grants, Bk.
32, 698; John Mills, 213 acres on Glade Creek. Land Grants, Bk. 34, 38; Jasper
Terry, 250 acres on Mud Lick Creek of Roanoke. Land Grants, Bk. 34, 70;
David Robinson, 167 acres on Buffalo Creek of Roanoke. Land Grants, Bk.
32, 69S.

August 10, 1756, Henry Brown, Jr., 200 acres on south side of Goose
Creek. Land Grants, Bk. 84, 122; Samuel Brown, 249 acres on south side of
Goose Creek. Land Grants Bk. 34, 125.

August 16, 1756, Erwin Patterson, 190 acres on the north side of Goose
Creek. Land Grants, Bk. 33, 212; William Carvin, 300 acres joining Neal

McNeal. Land Grants, Bk. 34, 348; Erwin Patterson, 212 acres on south side .

of Roanoke, corner to tract formerly surveyved for Nicholas Hartford. Land
Grants, Bk. 34, 314; {Iohm, 242 acres on the waters of Roanoke. Land
Grants, Bk. .34 127; John Smith, 400 acres on a branch of Roanoke Riv er
alled Goose 'W_ S
May 21, 17 Bryan TIZDEETd Jr., to have 15 5 of Bryan McDonald,
M.’s land, \vhere he use to live; John Annﬁrong, son-in-law of Bryan Mec-
wonald, Sr., 14 land above where testator now lives: Richard McDonald, 5
shillings; James McDonald; Edward McDonald; Joseph McDonald, with
Bryan to have remainder of estate; Priscilla McDonald, bed she lies on;
Rebecca Bean; Catherine Armstrong; Mary Smith; Catherine McDonal, wife,
executor—with John Armstrong. Au. W. B. 2, 197, Chalkley 1V, 45.
November 18, 1757, Abraham Smith, Executor of John Smith, Jr., Eldest
,son and heir-at-law of John Smith, a prisoner in the French Dominions—
Refused to Qualify; Israel Christian, a (redltor qualifies during Smith’s
(/absen(e Au. Orders of Court, Chalkley I,

. 1757, Elizabeth Stewart, by will of Dd\ 1d Stewart, 400 acres on a brandl

of Roanoke. Grant.
November 17, 1756, Mary Robinson, Admx. of John Robinson, dec.;
Elizabeth Robinson, child of John and Mary Robinson—Au. W. B. 2—
Chalkley 1V, 93.
1756 to 1762, James and Edward McDonald, 510 acres, see Land Grants,
Bk. 34, 401. :
June 20, 1757, Joseph Crockett, “no inhabitant.” Orders of Court.
November 10, 1757, Henry Brown, 83 acres on north side of Goose Creek.
Land Grants, Bk. 33, 383.

e
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November 16, 1757, Esther Brown, dau. of Henry Brown, Admy, o Februarys 175

Henry Brown: (Widow Esther refused to qualify.) : $rd January,
1758, Esther Married Wm. Carleton—Au. Orders of Court, Chalkly Iy; Februarys 17
March 17, 1758, William Graham, 600 acres on Buffalo Creek, 3 brauc}_- william McC

of Roanoke, fork at Carravan’s Creek. From John Mills, pat. December 17 . Wilon 28th

1752. Au. D. Bk. 7, 531. yos. ' Thompson, 2(
May 18, 1758, Erwin Patterson, Ephraim Vause, Removed out of County Mills, 18th A)

—Orders of Court. T ' sugust, 1753;
May 12, 1759, John Mills, 341 acres on Carvin’s Creek. Land Grants, B}, ber, 1752; Joh
August 10, 1759, Patrick Shirkey, 200 acres on the head springs of t, 1754; Walter

North Fork of Roanoke. Land Grants, Bk. 34, 430. 1753; James ¢
February 12, 1759, William Preston, 191 acres, on Buffalo Creek, Corpe; July, 1752; E

John Buchanan. Conveyed to Stephen Rentfroe by Geo. Robinson, Gent ~  Armstrong, 3:

May 25, 1748, 100£. From Stephen Rentfroe. Au. Deed Bk. 8, 90. \McDonald, 20
November 21, 1759, Malcom Campbell, 400 acres on Goose Creek of , John Smith, 4t

Roanoke, including the Great Lick on west side of Smith’s Creek near moutt, 12th February

of Lick Branch. Au. D. Bk. 8, 238. Sent to ‘meir-at-law o December, 17

Malcolm 1773. ' Thomas Brine

125 acres on Mason’s Creek—Grant, Pat. Bk. 4. Isaac Taylor,~

247.

January 2, 1759, James Lockhart, late Sheriff, 145 of 400 acres on the SEGLION

Roanoke, formerly James Burk’s mortgage. SETTLEMENTS .
February 10, 1759, Thomas Dryden, Receipt from Wm. Preston for While the

flour at Evans’ Mill, Preston Papers, 46. above the mou
March 8, 1760, William Preston, 226 acres on the waters of the Roanoke: tains was bein,

144 acres on the waters of the Roanoke. Land Grants, Bk. 33, 725. tract of 20,000
April 22, 1760, Erwin Patterson, 200 acres on Buffalo Creek of Roanoke. Daries came n

Land Grants, Bk. 34, 469; 210 acres on the Roanoke; John Mills, 580 acres or the mountains.

Bent Mountain. Land Grants, Bk. 34, 470. ton River and
June 18, 1760, Ann Armstrong, 254 acres on Wolf Creek of Roanoke. (1742) on the

Land Grants, Bk. 34, 481. large land hol
July 14, 1760, Daniel McCormack, 245 acres on a branch of Round QOak. . Mathew Talbo

called Buffalo Creek, part of 845 acres belonging to John Mills. Power of Albemarle fron
Attorney to Wm. Graham from David Robinson, now of Chester County, Pa. * from the point
to bring suit to recover title and convey to McCormack. Au. D. Bk. 11, 21¢ County line, ar
September 26, 1760, John Mackadoo, 253 acres on a branch of Roanoke- , and from
by Daniel Monahan. Land Grants, Bk. 34, 742. Special bil] req

From Col. Patton’s appraisement in 1758 a pretty good check on themer “gusta to resi
who secured land through him may be had. Bonds, bills, etc. due his estate ll"med in Octok
for land purchased:—William Henry and James Bates, 18th August, 17535 iﬁnd fairs

John Brinegar, 20th April, 1753; Thomas Littleton and John Brinegar. Srd =
ournal of the

January, 1754; Thomas English and John Medley, 9th February, 1754; J"‘htr‘ 2Journal of the
McCurry and Samuel Jackson, 27th September, 1752; Errick Bright, 18t Journal of the
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ebruary, 1753; Francis Cypher, 18th February; Henry and William Ledford,

{ January, 1754; Thomas Hill, 18th February, 1753; Benjamin Ogle, 18th
February, 1753; Elisha Isaac—1753; Tobias Bright, 13th December, 1752;
william McCurry, 2d January, 1754; John McCurry 25th—, 1753; F

January, 1754; Richard Kerr, 13th September, 1748; John

=

)

e

Thompson, 20th November, 1753; David Miller, 20th February, 1755; Hugh ‘;

Mills, 18th April, 1748; William Graham, 3rd August, 1753; John Mills, 3rd )(V
August, 1753; Erwin Patterson, 3rd August, 1753; George Reed 13th Decem- e
ber, 1752; John Welsh, 20th September, 1753; Ephriam Vause, 10th October, =
1754; Walter Welsh, 20th December, 1753: John Robinson, 16th February, -
1753; James and William Gorrell, 18th February, 1753; James Neely, 16th ﬁ
July, 1752; Edward Moore and James Neely, 18th October, 1754; William j;'*'
Armstrong, Srd May, 1753; Stephen Rentfroe, 5th May, 1753; Edward P

)

McDonald, 20th December 1’753;P 18th February, 1753; Major
John Smith, 4th October, 1754; John Bowen, 15th April, 1748; William Carvin,
12th February, 1753; Neal McNeal, 3rd May, 1753; Archibald Graham, 18th

December, 1753; James Bain,— October, 1753; Bryan McDonald—1754;
Thomas Brinegar, 25th April, 1753; William Ingles, 11th February, 1754;

ay

N

Isaac Taylor,—1755; I
SectioN IV. CONTEMPORARY FRONTIER SETTLEMENTS, 1740-1760 4 24
SETTLEMENTS ALONG JAMES RIVER AND THE STAUNTON BELOW THE MOUNTAINS % 5*
While the settlements on the branches of James River and the Roanoke ;\1
Move the mountains were being made the adjacent territory below the moun- i
wins was being occupied by advancing Virginians. Col. John Bolling’s great i
tract of 20,000 acres was one of the first grants near the mountains. Nicholas . 7|

Davies came next above him on the James with a large grant that extended to
the mountains. Charles Lynch patented two tracts on the north side of Staun- .
ton River and one on the south side. Benjamin Clements had a small grant
(1742) on the south side of Staunton. James Daniel and John Phelps were
large land holders with neighbors in John Harvey, Obadiah Woodson and
. Mathew Talbot. About this time (1744), Louisa was cut off from Hanover and
Albemarle from Goochland. The line between Albemarle and Goochland ran
from the point of the fork of James River in a northeast course to Louisa
County line, and from the said point of the Fork in a direct course to Brook’s
Mill, and from thence the same course continued to Appamattox River.: A
special bill requiring the surveyors of the new counties of Albemarle and
Augusta to reside in their respective counties whereof they were surveyors was
Passed in October, 1744.2 The T

Metnd apsatign laned b0 hu i ey

Journal of the House of Burges
2Journal of the House of Burgesses,
#Journal of the House of Burgesses, 7, page 47.

W,
umerous propositions for
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ferries over the James River were presented for consideration. A ferry ae
the James on the land of Ashford Hughes near the mouth of Willis® Cr‘eek -
reported “reasonable.” Contemporary with this was the crossing of the
above the mountains operated as Looney’s Ferry, the franchise given p,-
Orange Court. A ferry from the land of Richard Mosby on the south side of the
river to Mr. Tarleton Fleming’s on the north side was “reasonable.” Qe from
Robert Carter’s to Ashford Hughes’ was rejected. One from Col. Benjami,
Harrison’s to Allen Howard’s near Elk Island was rejected. One from the land
of James Fenley to the land of William Cabell was “reasonable,” and one fn:,u;
the land of Bennet Goode between the land of Philip Lightfoot and Co], Johe.
Fleming would be convenient for travelers. One near Goochland Courthoyse
from the land of Tucker Woodson to the land of Paul Micheaux was necessary.
In 1745 Daniel Scott wanted a ferry from his land to John Lad’s; \\'i]lia;n
Battersby, from his land to Daniel Scott’s, and William Cabell from his lang
to Samuel Spenar’s.: The towns of Petersburg and Blanford were proposed ang
a division of Brunswick county considered. It was represented that Bruns.
wick, which extended to the top of the mountain, was 230 miles in length. and
had 2700 tithables, some of whom had to ride 150 miles to court. The opponents
of the division said that there were only 1862 tithables and but few were fit
for civil officers. The division line proposed was to run from the county line
where it crossed Roanoke, helow the place called Horse Foard, to strike Notta-
way River near the fork.2 On petition of John Caldwell and other inhabitants
above the Fork of Roanoke the act to encourage settlements on the southern
boundaries of the colony was allowed to be repealed.s+ Regardless of the
difference of opinion, Brunswick was divided and the new county of Lunenburg
was formed in 1746 and repeated propositions for changing the division line
were rejected.

1746, The Callaway brothers, Francis, Richard, Thomas and William.
sons of Joseph Callaway, of Caroline County, were closely identified with Old
Lunenburg and Bedford counties. It is said that they came to this section in
1740 and were the first men who cleared land and raised corn on the Otter
River.

They appear in the land records of 1747. Francis Callaway had 224 acres

on the lower side of Buffalo Creek, Richard 244 acres near by. There followed
many important surveys in both Albemarle and Lunenburg counties—John
Chiswell, 2460 acres on south branch of Rockfish River; Leonard Ballew, 2472
acres on south side of Fluvanna (James River); Col. John Henry, 222+ acres
on the east side of Tye River; William Walton, 1020 acres on Walton’s Fork
of Slate River; Nathaniel Davis, 332 on the North Fork of Horsley’s Creek:
Charles Lynch, 400 acres on Horsley’s Creek; Mathew Jordan, 5000 acres

2 Journal of the House of Burgesses, 7, page 167.
2Journal of the House of Burgesses, 7, page 179.
Journal of the House of Burgesses. 7, page 184,
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_~porth of Fluvanna; Charles Lynch, Sr., 425 and 125 acres at the mouth of
Jlackwater Creek of James River, the present side of Lynchburg, from Col.
John Bolling; (1749) Thomas Mosely on the north side of Otter River includ-
ing some of the head branches of Elk Creek; John Phelps on the branches of
the South Fork of Little Otter River; Jaffrie Crawley on both sides North
Fork of Little Otter; Edward Moberly on north side of Otter just above the
mouth of Oak Mountain Branch; John Donaldson, on the upper side of Reedy
Branch of Stony Creek; Clement Moberly on both sides of Otter River; William
Callaway on the north side of Otter River;: (1750) Rice Price on the lower
branches of Hall's Creek; William Wylie on both sides of Hall’s Creek, North
<ide of Otter River; Samuel Shannon, 150 acres on Rockfish River; Nicholas
Davis, 1755 acres in bend of Joy Creek of Blackwater; (1751) Peter Jefferson,
William Dawson, Thomas Ballew, Charles Lynch, Thomas Turpin and Joshua
Fry 11,770 acres around Nicholas Davis on Joy Creek; William Callaway
1500 acres on both sides Elk Creek; Richard Callaway 4100 acres on Elk
Creek; William Harvey on Buffalo Creek; Samuel, Andrew and Robert
Hairston on Rockfish River; (1752) Thomas Turpin, 1800 acres on Turpin’s
Creek; Richard Burk 1571 acres adjacent to Elk Island on both sides James
River, (1754) 400 acres patented 1740, 75 acres from Nicholas Davies and
1100 new; Nicholas Davies, Gent., 25,000 acres on both sides Fluvanna above
Wide Mouth Creek and Pedlar River; Captain Samuel Jordan, 4449 acres
between Slate River and Fluvanna; Francis Callaway at Forks of Blackwater;
William Floyed, 337 acres on the branches of Pedlar River; Col. John Chiswell,

™0 acres on hoth sides of Joshua’s Creek: Lomsford Lomax, 3553 acres on
voth sides Horseley’s Creek; (1755) Capt. Charles Ellis, 396 acres on Rocky
Run of Horsley’s Creek; Joseph Fitzpatrick., 200 acres on Hardware; Col.
Richard Cocke, 140 acres on north side of Fluvanna; Robert Walton's heirs,
3450 acres on Otter River; Wm. Boyd, 284 on Flat Creek; Richard Randolph
on Blackwater, Goose Creek, Falling Creek and Staunton River—2350 acres
on Blackwater, 14,000 on Little Otter, head of Falling and Goose Creek,
13,550 on branches of Staunton, 2800 on Staunton, 1800 on Staunton including
an Island, 700 on Maggoty Creek; Abraham Venable, 740 on Little Falling
Creek; Col. John Chiswell, eight tracts on Tomahawk Creek, Sandy River,
Elkhorn and Mill Creeks; William Stith, 4000 acres on Blackwater, Fluvanna
and Otter River.

It is said that Nicholas Davies married Judith Fleming Randolph and that
his inclusive survey patented in 1771 covered 31,303 acres in Amherst and
Bedford Counties, including the greater part of Fleming’s Mountain, part of
No Business Mountain and part of the main ridge. The land extended from
Judith Creek to the Scotch-Irish Falls. Rev. William Stith married his step-
daughter, Judith Randolph, and received a partnership entry of 1711 acres of
The Forest Tract to which he added the 4000 acres on Blackwater and the
Fluvanna.: Abraham Venable, Jr. who married Martha Davis lived on Falling

T sy, History of Casbell County, 394,
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Alexander Craighead, moved to North Carolina in the bounds of present
Mecklenburg County.

1745. At the same time that Col. Patton secured his grant for land on
Wood’s River a group of men made up of Edmund Pendleton, John Robinson,
Sr., Thomas Nelson, Jr., John Robinson, Jr., William Beverley, Robert Lewis,
Beverly Robinson, Henry Weatherburn, John Lewis, John Craig, William
Lewis, Charles Lewis and mccured a grant to take up 100,000
acres on Greenbrier River. This became known as the Greenbrier Company.
Surveys were made by Andrew Lewis for “John Robinson and others™ in 1751
and 1752. Plats for ninety tracts were recorded and considerable progress was
made in the settlement before it was abandoned in 1755. The country was
uninhabited in 1769 when John Stuart went there to settle.: No surveys are
reported for Henry Downs’ grant for 50,000 acres.

1745. Another group made up of Robert Green, of Orange County, Robert
McKay, of Augusta, Jost Hite and William Duff, of Frederick, established
thriving settlements on different branches of the Shenandoah, especially on
Linvells’ Creek, 7000 acres. Patents issued to Robert Green who made con-
veyances to purchasers and others of this group.

1747. There was another patent to Robert Green (1747), which supported
an advanced settlement. This was on the southermost branch of the South
Branch of Potomac and the settlers were John Patton, Sr., John Patton, Jr.,

/ K\ Roger Dyer, William Dyer, William Stephenson, Matthew Patton and John
/ ) Smith. —
A—""T749. When Bienville fornnll\ took possession of the Ohio country for the
French in 1749, Thomas Lee and other distinguished gentlemen of Virginia
with John Hanbury, Merchant of London, organized the Ohio Company?
to promote trade with the Indians and offset the encroachments of the French.
They asked for 500,000 acres of land on both sides of the Ohio, 200,000 acres
on north side, between Yellow and Buffalo Creeks south of the Alleghany to be
granted and developed at once. Notwithstanding a lengthy correspondence
between the Governor of Virginia and the Lords of Trade in London, the
company with Christopher Gist as its agent made some headway in exploring
the country, cultivating the friendship of the Indians and establishing scatterec
settlements. They had a store on the north side of the Potomac at the wesi
side of the mouth of Wills Creek, Thomas Cresap’s Improvement on Nortl
Branch of Potomac a few miles above the junction of North and South Bran
ches, a path from Wills Creek to the Monongahela and headquarters at Red

stone Old Fort, with sixteen families settled thereabouts.

1Deposition of Archibald and John Stuart, Chalkley I, 204.

Augusta County Surveyor’s Book No. 2

2The members of the Ohio Company were John Hanbury, Thomas Lee, Thomas Nelson, Colonel Cresst
William Thornton, William Nimmo, Daniel Cressup, John Carlisle, Lawrence Washington, Augustus Washingtc
George Fairfax, Jacob Gyler, Nathaniel Chapman, James Woodrop and others their associates.





image34.jpeg
: b X
' c MAP OF THE

o
S RS FORKS °F ™2 JAMES
7 COMMUNITY
BELOW BORDENS GRANT
1740 - 1760

COM

actual settlers.
!heu] moving 1
5 few of these
James and the
in all three cor
of James, in 17
appears as a cc
Many who “to
in the upper 1
them with onl;
to the land. H
whole region &
settled commu:
ginning and stz
special study.

Salling, Robert
James Trimble

THE

The first ¢
by the Court ¢
The next ¢
1743.
The Militi
under Colonel .
Colonel Pa
designed to be
James Cathrey
Lewis, Peter !
Robinson and
The inhab
were placed in
Tract and in t
McDowell. Tt
that region pr
®ommission Jol
Same neighbort
brother, Ja
The militi;
stration, Ever
immediate
%o different
¥as the local ¢





image35.jpeg
COMMUNITY LIFE ON THE JAMES AND THE ROANOKE 139

ctual settlers on the ground. And they were somewhat unsettled, many of
.hem moving in and out and finally leaving for the southern provinces. Only
a few of these names are found in the neighboring settlements on the upper
James and the Roanoke. At least one individual, Erwin Patterson, appeared
in all three communities very early. In 1744 he was on Mill Creek in the Forks
of James, in 1746 he was on Looney’s Mill Creek south side of the James, and
appears as a constable on the Roanoke near the Great Lick in the same year.
Many who ““took up” or purchased land in the lower forks of the James lived
;n the upper part of Borden’s Tract or in Beverley Manor. We can credit
them with only such improvements as were necessary to perfect their titles
to the land. However, these first tracts taken were the choice places in the
whole region and became the “‘old homesteads™ of the later more thickly
settled community. A number of men that came into the territory at the be-
ginning and stayed through the troublous times of the Indian Wars deserve our
special study. Among them were John Mathews, Sr. and his sons; John Peter
Salling, Robert Renick, Joseph Lapsley, Richard Woods, Gilbert Campbell,
James Trimble.

THE LOCAL OFFICIALS, 1738-1745, WHILE YET IN ORANGE

The first constable for the community was James McDowell, appointed
by the Court of Orange, 1741.

The next constables were John Mitchell and Joseph Lapsley, appointed in

743.

The Militia Officers were John McDowell and John Mathews, Captains
under Colonel James Patton, all appointed in 1742.

Colonel Patton qualified on May 27th. The other captains for the territory
designed to be called Augusta were John Buchanan, John Smith, Samuel Gay,
James Cathrey and John Christian, qualifying on June 24th, and Andrew
Lewis, Peter Scholl, James Gill, John Wilson, Hugh Thompson, George
Robinson and John McDowell, qualifying sometime in the year 1742.

The inhabitants of the northern and central part of the Borden Tract
were placed in John Buchanan’s company, those in the southern part of the
Tract and in the “Forks of James” below Borden’s line were given to John
McDowell. This may have been due to a certain petition from the people of
that region presented to Governor Gooch on July 80, 1742, asking him to
commission John McDowell captain of militia. McDowell himself lived in the
same neighborhood as some of those in Capt. Buchanan’s company, but he and
his brother, James, had entered a number of trac f 1 33

ne individual might belong to
g property at different places. The company

two different companies by

was the local civil and military unit. In it the taxes were levied and collected
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and the militia met in regular muster. Everyone belonging to a company dig
not necessarily do active military service, even in time of war.

The following are the members of John McDowell’s Company and the,
constituted the adult male population of the Lower Forks Community \
John McDowell, James McDowell, Ephraim McDowell, David Dre‘deu
Alex. McClure, John McClure, Halbert McClure, Samuel McRoberts, Thomgs

- Taylor, John Mc Knab, And. Mc Knab, Thos. Whiteside, Malco. Whiteside

John Alison, David Bires, Moses McClure, John Gray, Patt. Mc Knabb, W,
Hall, John Miles, Wm. Miles, James Hardman, Charles Quail, Wm. Woods,
Joseph Long, Samuel Long, Henry Kirkham, Gilbert Campbell, James Camp.
bell, Rob. Young, Math. Young, James Moore, Hugh Cunningham, James
Cunningham, John Carr, Francis McCown, Hans. Beaker, John Peter Sallev,
Mitch. Miller, Loromor Mason, John Mathews, John Colier, Erwin Patterso;l.
Edward Patterson, Joseph Finney, Michael Finney, Samuel Woods, Richard
Woods, Joseph Lapsley.

JOHN MCDOWELL'S PETITION

In the regular order of events we find the inhabitants west of the Blue
Ridge organized into militia companies each having for its captain some leading
man in the community. By the middle of June, 1742, most of the officers had
been appointed and the citizens assigned to their respective companies. For
some reason some of the residents in Borden’s Grant and on the North Branch
of James below his line became anxious about their protection and petitioned
the Governor to place commissioned men amongst them. The petition was
unnecessary, since the people would have been regularly cared for, but it i
interesting as showing the state of mind existing among them and the degree
of intelligence they displayed in wording it. And since a number of the signers
were placed in Capt. Buchanan’s Company, it is probable that some wer
displeased with their assignment or were desirous of favoring McDowell. We
are including the petition as a part of the records of the Forks Community.

“To the Honorable, William Gooch Esqr His Majestys’ Lieut: Governor
&e &e—

“Sir )

We your pittionours humbly sheweth that we your Honours Loly an¢
Dutifull Subguackes hath ventred our Lives & all that we have In settling 5
back parts of Virginia which was a veri Great Hassirt & Dengerous, for 1t =
the Hathins Road to Ware, which has proved hortfull to severil of ous that
were ye first settlers of these back woods & wee your Honibill pittionors som¢
time agoo pittioned your Honnour for to have Commissioned men amongst
ous which we your Honnours most Duttifull subjects thought properist m¢=
& men that had Hart and Curidg to hed us yn time of & to defend your
Contray and your poor Sobjacks Intrist from ye voilince of ye I{zxitllf“j
But yet agine we Humbly persume to poot your Honnor yn mind of our Gres:

C
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ant of them in hopes that your Honner will Grant a Captins’ Commission to
n McDowell, with follring ofishers, and your Honnours’ Complyance in
this will be great settisfiction to your most Duttifull and Humbil pittioners—
and we as in Duty bond shall Ever pray.”—
ist? was made up of near neighbors to the north many
of leards in the records of the Lower Forks. They were
John Buchanan, Captain; William Evans, Lieutenant; Joseph Catton, Ensign;
John Mitchell, Sergeant; Joseph Kennaday, James Cooke, Charles Donocho,
Solomon Moffett, Jas. Sunderlin, William Sayers, John Dyche, Robert Catton,

Charles Camble, Wh
Xml]mr]es Hays, Andrew Martin, John Edmoston, James Robinson,

Thom ouchart, William Quinn, Sammie Dunlop, William Lochridge, Robert
Dunlap, James Eaken, William McCanless, John Moor, William Moor, David
Moor, Alexander Moor, Andrew Moor, William Mitchell, Nathaniel Evans,
John Stephenson, James Greenlee, John Paul, Mathew Lyle, John Gray,
Thomas McSpeaden, John Mathews, Thomas Williams, Jacob Anderson,
John Anderson, James Anderson, Isaac Anderson, Andrew Hayes, John Mc-
Croskerie, William Buchanan, Richard Courser, Nathan McClewer, William
Armstrong, Robert Huddon, William Hall, Samuel Gray, Isaac Taylor,
Michael O Doeherty, Samuel McClewer, Edward Boyle, William Humphrey,
John Philip Weaver.

These men rather than McDowell’s represented the main settlement in

the h@
n 1744 James Patton in addition to his other offices was made collector

of duties on furs and skins. And the next year for the first time the tithables
were directed to be listed. Peter Scholl was appointed for the region between
the Frederick line and Middle River; John Lewis, from North Mountain to
the upper part of Beverley Manor, including all the inhabitants of the Cow
and Calf Pastures and back of the same; and John Buchanan back of the
Pastures to the main branch of James River.

THE FORKS COMMUNITY IN AUGUSTA COUNTY, 1745-1760

In the organization of Augusta County in 1745 Richard Woods was a
member of the first Justices’ Court, Richard Burton became a member in 1746
and in 1751 John Mathews and Benj. Borden were added. Both John Mathews
and Joseph Lapsley were recommended in 1746. John Bowyer became a mem-
ber in 1757.

Of the twelve most able men in the country who constituted the Vestry
John Mathews was among those commissioned. He served as a member of the
Vestry until his death in 1757. Just before his death he was elected one of the
Wardens. Sampson Archer who was elected to the Vestry in the place of Col.
Patton was the other one. In 1756 John Mathews, Jr., was elected Vestryman

T The lists are found among the Preston Papersof the Draper MemweriptColestion————

M
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[in_the place of

Lajor John Smith who was carried away captive. He after.

|- : -
|"ward served with Sampson Archer as Warden.

In 1757 Richard W -as made Sheriff and collector of the revenyes,
and he was followed in John Bowyer.

From the beginning Thomas Lewis as Surveyor had as his deputies James
Trimble and John Poage.

By Court appointment the community had fowobert Young:
Michael Dougherty: William Woods; Thomas Williams; Michael Finne\i;
James Campbell; Abraham Brown, below the Brushy Hills; William H:{]I;

and James Greenlee, recalled, being unable to read and write.

The Captains succeeding those in the original organization of the militia
were Richard Woods and Benj. Borden, 1745; Joseph Lapsley and John Peter
Salling, 1746; John Maxwell, Robert Renix, John Poage and James Edmundson,
Troop of Horse, 1752; John Moore, Foot, 175‘2;_&11({ Robert
Armstrong, 1753, and the lieutenants were Low Todd (Horse), 1752; Audley

Pdulﬂ I 5, returned from Braddock’s Army where he had lost a horse:
Al : .

THE FIRST ROADS IN THE FORKS OF JAMES

As in any rugged country the first roads in the Forks of James followed
the old trails, which led through the natural outlets formed by the rivers and
creeks of the region. The people had to make their own roads, so they found
the nearest and best way from their neighborhood settlements to the mills.
markets and meeting-houses as they were established. The most thickly
settled sections were the better lands about Wood’s Creek and the southwest
ern banks of North River. the meadows on Mill Creek and Buffalo and the
lower bottoms of North River and the upper branches of Cedar Creek. James
Young’s mill at the mouth of Whistle Creek and the Forks Meeting House
on Wood’s Creek served the upper settlement for neighborhood centers. and
the mill and John Mathews  home on Mill Creek, the lower families. The road
of most interest and importance was the so-called Indian Road leading through
the Great Valley behind the mountains from North Carolina to Philadelphia.
This road had been marked out by James Patton and John Buchanan under
direction from the court at Orange and had been the first to be improved.
Other roads led into it at different points. The logical crossing of the James
River was at the end of Purgatory Mountain where the mountain extends to the
river bed, the Purgatory Creek comes into the river from the north, and
creek known as Looney’s Mill Creek flowed from the south draining the fertile
plateau lying between the James and the Roanoke. The land in the bend of the
river on the north side thereof between the mouths of these two creeks W&
known as Cherry Tree Bottom. This bottom was selected early by Jame
Patton for his own use. The ferry license for this crossing was granted to him
by the Orange Court at the time the road was blazed, but the ferry and place
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became known as Looney’s Ferry so named for Robert Looney, who lived at
e mouth of this creek just opposite the upper end of Cherry Tree Bottom
and operated the ferry. This point, then, where the through road crossed the
river represented the upper and most southwestern angle of the triangle made
by the main or South Branch of the James and the North Branch. The road
crossed the North Branch at Gilbert Campbell’s Ford just below the mouth
of Wood’s Creek, now Lexington.

The order for this road as recorded in Orange is an interesting and import-
ant historical document. Some of the cross-ws from the east side of the
mountain to the Valley on the west were recognized and established before this
one, but this was the road over which the settlers came into the country and
over which they were moving on to the valleys of the farther southwest, the
road the Indians traveled from north to south and the road ac
Pennsylvania markets.

Buchanan, Gent. having viewed the way from
Frederick County Line through that part of this county called Augusta ac-
cording to the order made at last March Court made in these words, “Pur-
suant to an Order of Orange Court dated the thirtieth Day of March 1745
we the subscribers have viewed laid off and Marked the said road mentioned
#m the said Order as followeth viz"—To begin at Tom’s Brook at Frederick
ounty Line and go from thence to Benjamin Allen’s Ford and Robert Col-
well’'s Path and that Henry Fulkinburg, Jonas Denton, and Charles Buck and
Abraham Strickler be overseers of that Part and that they have for their Gang
all the Inhabitants Between the mountains from Frederick County Line up
to Colwell’s Path and that the said Road be continued from Colwell’s Path
Cross Beard’s Ford on the North River and Alexander Thompson’s Ford on
the Middle River and that John Harrison and Capt. Daniel Harrison, Robert
Craven, Samuel Stuart, William Thompson and John Stevenson be Overseers
of the Same and have for their Gang all the Inhabitants Between the moun-
tains above Colwell's Path and Thompson’s Ford and that said Road continue
from Thompson’s Ford to the Tinkling Spring and that James Cathey and
James Carr be Overseers of that Part and that all the Inhabitants between the
mountains above Thompson’s Ford & Tinkling Spring do clear the Same and
that the said Road continue from Tinkling Spring to Beverley Manor line and
that Patrick Campbell John Buchanan and William Henderson be Overseers
and that all the Inhabitants above Tinkling Spring and Beverley Manor line
do clear the same and that the said Road continue from Beverley Manor Line
to Gilbert Campbell’s Ford on the North Branch of James River and that Capt
Ben. Borden, Capt William Evins and Capt Joseph Culton be Overseers of
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the same and that the gangs to clear the same be all the Inhabitants abov
Beverley Manor Line & the said Gilbert Campbell’s Ford and that the Roa
continue from Gilbert Campbell’s Ford to a ford at the Cherry Tree Bottor
on James River and that Richard Wood, Gilbert Campbell, Joseph Lapsle
and Joseph Long be Overseers and that all the Inhabitants betwixt the sai
Rivers clear the same and that the said Road continue from the said Cherr
Tree Bottom to Adam Harmon's on the New or Wood’s River and that Capt
George Robinson and James Campbell and Mark Evins and James Davis(on
be Overseers of the same and that all the Inhabitants between James Rive
and Wood’s River clear the Same and that a Distinet Order be Given to ever
Gang to Clear the Same and that it be cleared as it is already Blazed and Lai
off with Two Notches and A Cross—Given under our hands this S8th Day ¢
April 1745 James Patton—.John Buchanan.—

Whereupon it is Ordered that the said way be from henceforth establishe
a Public Road and that the Persons mentioned in the said Report are hereb
appointed Surveyors of the Same Districts therein also mentioned and it |
Ordered that they Cause the said Road to be cleared and that all the mal
Tithables mentioned in the said Report do attend and Obey the Respectiv
Overseers in clearing the Same as it is already Blazed and laid off with Tw
Knotches and a Cross and when cleared to keep the same in repair and it i
further Ordered that the said Several Overseers do set up posts of Directio
if necessary according to law—

At a Court for Orange County on Thursday the 23rd Day of May in th
Eighteenth year of the Reign of our Soverign Lord King George the Secon
by the grace of God of Great Britain France and Ireland Defender of the fait
etc. anno Domini M D CCXLYV Before his Majesty’s Justices of the Peac
for the said County, to wit, Thomas Chew, Robert Slaughter, Robert Greer
John Finlason, Samuel Ball, Henry Field, Gentlemen——"

From this report we know that this first location of the road through th
Valley was south of Beverley’s Mill Place by Tinkling Spring. And from late
references to connections with it. we know that i .

N e, presumably on the same ground as was later used by the Re
Mill and Barclay’s Tavern. The main roads leading into it were from Josep
Long’s Mill back of Short Mountain and James Young’s Mill at the mouth ¢
Whistle Creek; from the mouth of Buffalo to Campbell’s School House sout
of the North Branch and from the Mill Creek neighborhood towards the Ceda
Creek settlement. From early times there was a road by ““Cedar Bridge” fo
the convenience of the inhabitants along the river. Occasional references to th
roads and the men who were to build and look after them give some idea of th
location of the homes and the everyday life of the people.

In November, 1746, the Augusta Court ordered a road from the Nort
Fork of James to Looney’s Ford on South Fork of James—with all tithable
except John Boyer's, Jos. Long’s and John Peter Salling’s families.

as
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This would seem to be an adoption of the original road established by the

range Court, with possible alterations. The families excepted from work on

it lived on the extreme edges of the community and would get no direct use of
this section of the road.

In 1750, Richard Burton, Robert Renick, John Poage and Peter Wallace
were to survey a road from Looney’s Ferry to North River.

In 1751, Archibald Alexander, Michael Finney, John Hargrove, John
Maxwell and John Peter Salling were surveyors for a road from David Moore’s
Mill to Robert Poage’s Mill.

In 1752, road ordered from Wm. Cleghorn’s to Purgatory.

In March, 1753, Joseph Long and James Young as overseers, with Robert
Young, Joseph Long, Samuel Gibson, Solomon Whitley, John Collier, William
Hall, Gilbert Crawford, George Gibson, John Ruckman, Thomas Burton, Wm.
Wadington, Wm. Brown, James Moore, John Hanna, James Huston, Wm.
Todd, James Bats, James Todd, James Young, Patrick Young, John Carr and
James Campbell were to keep the road from Joseph Long’s Mill to James
Young’s Mill, thence to the Great Road on James Thompson’s Plantation.

This road provided an outlet for these settlers in the northwestern corner
of the Forks Community. They said, “It is our course to meeting, mill and
market.” For some of them we can find no land record.

In November, 1753, John Paxton was made overseer of a road from
“Edmonston’s Mill to Fork Meeting House™” with workers: James Trimble,
Michael Finney, John Berrisford, Wm. Holdman. John Hardin, Hugh Means,
7 ph Lapsley, Peter Wallace, Sam’l. McClure, Abram Brown, John Moore,
hobert Moore, Stephen Arnold, Saml. Paxton, Jas. Edmondson. And John
Mathews was overseer from North Fork of James, near John Mathews,” to
Renix’s Road, with these workers: Henry Brown, John Smiley, James Trimble,
John Berrisford, Jas. Edmondson, Wm. Edmondson, Michael Finney, Wm.
Holdman, Stephen Arnold, Hugh Means, John Harger, Wm. Scot, Edward
Bishop, Alexr. McCorkle, Pat. McCorkall, Henry Fuller, Joseph Ryan, Edwd.
Baley, James Baley, John Peter Salling, Jas. Simpson, James Wolson, Alexr.
Beggs, John Mathews, Joshua Mathews, John Maxwell, Jas. Frazier, John
Hutcheson, Senr., John Hutcheson, Jr., George Salling, Richard Burton, Wm.
Boil, John Sprowl,(John \mlth,j Saml. MecClure, John McCuley, Richard
Mathews, bamp%on%ﬁtﬂud Sauncion, Saml. Paxton, Wm. Paxton,
Samuel O]eson,ﬁqml. Walker.

This is a pretty complete enumeration of the people south of the Great
Road, especially along the North Branch and Buffalo and Mill creeks. The
two roads designated led from the fork of Buffalo and North Branch to the
Great Road and Fork Meeting House near Joseph Lapsley’s and Gilbert
Campbell’s and from the lower part of Mill Creek towards the west to connect
with the Great Road here called Renix’s Road. Robert Renicks had purchased
land on the western branches of Cedar Creek and at the southern end of Short
Hill, and was the leading citizen in that territory.

V. N





image42.jpeg
146 KEGLEY’S VIRGINTA FRONTIER

At this same time overseers were appointed for the “Indian Road” from
the North Fork to the Main Branch of the James River. The names of these
overseers are not given.

The next year (‘ampbell’:. School House was taken as the smrtm" point
for work on the main roads, with seemingly w locati

e workers: William Bradshaw, John Maxwell, James
Frazier, John McColley, John Peter and George Salley, Henry Fuller, Joseph
/| Ryan, John Hutchings, John Hutching’s, Jr., John Sprowl, Mathew Vance,
| Richard Benton, Wm. Burt, John \mlth, Wn Alison, Wm.
| Byers, Richard Mathews, ampsonmme“s, , Thomas Shaw,
Stephen Arnold, John Peteet, Wm. Noble, Samuel Allison”
Road ordered from North River to Campbell’s School House, John
Mathews, overseer, with Alexr. McCorkell, Edmund Crump, and John Harger.
Assuming that Campbell’s School House and Fork Meeting House were
the same thing or near each other, we have here practically the same people
below the Great Road working first their road direct from the lower part of
the Forks to the Great Road near Campbell’s Ford of North River; second,
their road west to the Great Road north of Cedar Creek; and third, the Great
Road, or its equivalent north from this intersection toward Campbell’s School
House,: the Fork Meeting House and Campbell’s Ford. This means simply
that there were two available roads from the Lower Forks north, the one
intersecting with the main road at Campbell’s School House and the other
bearing west intersecting the main road at a point farther south and that these
lower inhabitants used both roads and hence were called upon to help keep
them in order.
In the Orders of Court from 1754 to 1760 there are no references to
opening and overseeing roads.

7 THE FORKS MEETING HOUSE
o

g The first people in Borden’s Grant and the Forks of James were almost
7 wholly Scotch-Irish in association and Presbyterian in religion. While obeying
the Virginia laws in regard to church affairs they had their own worship in
houses registered and set apart for that purpose, and they were supplied with
ministers of their own faith as fast as they were to be had. Some ministers
C—were sent from Pennsylvania as missionaries to visit the people in Virginia and
organize congregations in those parts, and others came of their own accord and
settled among them. The fifth one to come and the first one to stay was Rev.
John Craig, of Donegal Presbytery. He came as early as 1740 and served
regularly the congregations of the upper Shenandoah and irregularly the
scattered settlements of the upper branches of the James and the Roanoke.

1Campbell’s Schoolhouse was probably so named from Mathew Campbell, a young one-armed teacher who
taught in that community.
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John Sprout died in 1755, Wife, Jane. Sons, Johnand Jace; Daughters, Mary,
Martha and Sarah. Executors, Wife and Mary with Robert Renick. Augusta
Will Book 2, 88.

John Peter Salling, Farmer, died in 1754. Wife not mentioned. Sons,
George Adam and John; Daughters, Catherine Fuller, and Mary Elizabeth
Burton; Sons-in-law, Henry Fuller and Richard Burton. Augusta Will Book
2,.92.

September 11, 1757, Joseph Long’s Will—Son Samuel, tract at the Welch
Cabins; Son Henry, tract near place called Billas Spring; Son Joseph, infant,
tract where testator lives; Son John, tract at the Big Spring known as Island
Ford; These tracts now in one to be divided by Richard Woods, John Hannah,
James Beats and James Alexander; Wife, Anna; Daughter Agnes Cohoun,
5 shillings, Daughters Gennet, Elizabeth, Ann and Ruth; Executors, wife
Anne and son Henry; Teste: John Long, William Long; Thomas Stewart,
James Alexander; Proved 16th November by William and John Long and Jas.
Alexander, Henry Long refuses to execute, Anne qualifies with Richard Woods,
Robert Young, Alex. Ritchey. Au. Will Bk. 2, 210.

Robert Renick was killed by the Indians in 1757.

November 16, 1757, Joshua Mathews, administrator of Robert Renix,

Sale and inventory of the estate in 1763. Au. Will Bk. 2, 212. &
) November 18, 1757, Israel Christian, administrator, of John Smith, now '
a captive in the French Dominions. Au. Will Bk. 2, 220. —

April 20, 1757, John Mathews’ Will, of Forks of James River, Gent. Son
John, tract whereon son John lives; Son Joshua, tract whereon son Joshua lives
for life with remainder to his two children, Anna and Elizabeth, both infants;
if they die in infancy then to their Uncle George, and Archer and William;
Son Richard, 1 shilling; Son Sampson, tract called Kelley’s entry on Borden’s
Branch, 350 acres; Son George, 1 shilling; Daughters, Jane, Anne, Rachel, 1
shilling each; Daughter, Elizabeth, infant; Sons William and Archer, infants;
Wife, Anne; Executors, sons Sampson and George. Tract sold to William
Bradshaw to be conveyed to him. Teste: Mathew Campbell, Anna Kelley,
John Poage. Proved 16th November by Campbell and Poage. John Poage
and John Mathews sureties and executors—Au. Will Bk. 2, 205.

February 1, 1758, Martha Mitchell’s Will, Widow; Son, James Mitchell,
As her son David Mitchell, through the necessity of the times, hath been
B forced to leave his own habitation, he is to live with James until it pleases
) God to restore peace to the land. Executors, David and James Mitchell, her
4 sons. Teste: Jno. Fulton, Hugh Fulton, Robert Alexander. Au. Will Bk. 2, 305.

SecTioN II. THE SOUTH SIDE OF JAMES, OR FINCASTLE COMMUNITY

1. The First Settlers on Looney's Mill Creek, South Side of James
February 12, 1743, James Boyd—Grant, on Lunie’s Mill Creek, 340 acres.
February 12,1743,John Harrison—Grant, on Lunie’s Mill Creek, 366 acres.

o
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July 30, 1742, Robert Looney—Grant, on James River and Lunie’s Mi]
Creek, 250 acres.
July 80, 1742, Robert Looney—Grant, on Lunie’s Mill Creek to Beave,
Dam Swamp, 213 acres.
July 30, 1742, Robert Looney—Grant, on Lunie’s Mill Creek, 400 acres.
1743, Patrick Hays —Grant, on east side of Luney, 297 acres.
1743, Christopher Zimmerman—Grant, on the west side of the By
Ridge, 400 acres.
1745, Benjamin Davis—Grant, on south side of James River, 100 acres,
1745, James Sloan—Grant on a branch of Lunie’s Mill Creek, 178 acres,
1745, John Sloan—Grant, on a branch of Lunie’s Mill Creek, 150 acres,
1745, Robert Crockett—Grant, on Luney’s Mill Creek, 350 acres.
1745, James Wood—Grant, on north side of Luney’s-Beaver Dam Swamp,
400 acres.
1745, James Wood—Grant, on Luney’s Mill Creek, 176 acres.
1746, Erwin Patterson—Grant, west side of Blue Ridge, 400 acres.
1746, James Patton—Grant, on north side of James River, 70 acres.
1746, James Patton—Grant, on north side of James River, 150 acres.
1746, Robert Rowland—Grant, at the head of a branch of Luneys’, 360
acres.
1747, Charles Milligan—Grant, on east side of Luney’s—Patrick Hays,
297 acres.
1747, James Patton—Grant, on a branch of Looney’s Creek, 435 acres.
1747, James Patton—Grant, on Looney’s Mill Creek, 120 acres.
1747, James Patton—Grant, at head of Looney’s Mill Creek, 60 acres.
1747, Daniel Luney—Grant, on Long Run of James River, 180 acres.
1749, James Leatherdale—Grant, from John Harrison, 366 acres.
1749, James Patton—Grant, on north side of James River, 337 acres.
1749, James Patton—Grant, on north side James by Looney’s, 60 acres.
1750, John Smith—Survey, on James River, 200 acres:
\/ﬁmdlnesmgﬁ Grant, from James Boyd; Siﬁ—acres
1751, William Harbison—Grant, from Erwin Patterson, 400 acres.
1751, John Ralston—Grant, from James Patton, cor. James Moore, 43
acres.
1752, Charles Milligan—Grant, head of Looney’s, from James Patton, 60
acres.

1753, James Moore—Grant, from John Crockett, heir of Robert, 350 acres:

1753, Nathaniel Evans—Grant, from James Patton—on branch, 120 acres:

1753, James Rowland—Grant, at head of Long Run, 400 acres.

1753, Luke McSherry—on Back Creek of James—Survey, 186 acres:

1753, James Landerdale—on Back Creek of James—Survey, 143 acres

1753, Henry Switchard—on Back Creek of Jdmes—%ur\ ey, 85 acres:
1758, John Smith—on James River—Survey, 230 acres.
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1 Lunie’s My 1753, John Mills and David Miller—on Milligan’s Run of James—Survey,
e 250 acres. .
eek to Beaver 1758, James Neely—on James River—Survey, 125 acres.
1758, Charles Milligan—at “Big Meadows” on waters of James—Survey,
2ek, 400 acres. 34 acres.
Tes. 1753, John Patton—on the James—Survey, 100 acres.
: of the Blye 1758, James Landerdale—on Branch of Looney’s Mill Creek—Survey,
300 acres.
rer, 100 acres, 1753, James Landerdale—between his own and Harbisons'—Survey,
sek, 178 acres. 150 acres.
ek, 150 acres. 1758, James Patton—south side James River Bend—Survey, 243 acres.
) acres. 1753, James Patton—north side James River— Survey, 125 acres.
Dam Swamp, 1753, James Patton—south side of James River—Survey, 176 acres.
1753, David Stewart—on the James by John Clerk—Survey, 100 acres.
‘es. : 1753, William Ralston—by John Ralston — Survey, 30 acres.
0 acres. 1753, Hugh Caruthers—joining James Lauderdale—Survey, 86 acres.
.70 acres. 1754, Absalom Looney—on Long Run, from Daniel Looney 180 acres.
150 acres. 1754, Absalom Looney-—on south side of James—Survey, 248 acres.
f Luneys’, 369 1754, Thomas Rowland—on Branch of Looney’s—Survey, 74 acres.
1754, Luke McCherry—on Back Creek—Survey, 60 acres.
Pﬂck Hays, 1754, Andrew McNeeley—on Looney’s by Harbison—Survey, 60 acres.
1754, William Harbison—joining his own land—Survey, 80 acres.
ek, 435 acres. g 1754, John Gamble—on branch of Looney’s—Pat. to Wm. Preston—
acres. - Survey, 260 acres.
ek, 60 acres. 1755, Andrew McNeeley-—joining Sloan on Mill Creek—Survey, 45 acres.
, 180 acres. " 1755, William Preston—on branch of Looney’s Creek—Survey, 196 acres.
6 acres. | 1755, Adam Looney—on Looney’s Creek by his own land—Survey, 143
337 acres. acres.
1ey’s, 60 acres. 122 1755, Adam Looney—joining Sloan—transferred to Jno. Mills—Survey,
<< acres.

. 1755, Margaret Looney—on Looney’s Mill Creek—Survey, 250 acres.
400 acres.

1755, John Sloan—on a branch of James—Survey, 150 acres.
res Moore, 435 1755, Hugh Caruthers—on Looney’s Creek—Survey, 158 acres.
1755, Hugh Caruthers—on branch of James—Survey, 86 acres.
mes Patton, 60 1755, James Rowland—at Timber Ridge, north of Looney’s—Survey,
90 acres,
bert, 350 acres- 1755, James Rowland—on the James—Survey, 113 acres.
anch, 120 acres- ! i 1756, Robert Looney—on Sinking Spring, west side of James—Grant,
} acres. 0, 337 acres.
v, 186 acres- . 1756, Col. John Buchanan—at Cherry Tree Bottom—(will of Jas. Patton),
vey, 143 acres: *9.150, 60, 125 acres.
ey, 85 acres- 1759, John Mills—on Long Run of James River—Grant, 130 acres.

~ 1759, Robert Sloan—on Lunie’s Mill Creek—Grant, 264 acres.
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1759, Robert Sloan—on Lunie’s Mill Creek—Grant, 300 acres. =

1759, John Smith—south side of James, from Benj. Davis—Grant, 1
€s. S

We are placing Cherry Tree Bottom and adjacent land on the north side
of the river between Purgatory Creek and Robert Looney’s in_the Mill Creek
community, because it is cut off from the Forks of James and upper-James
River lands by ridges on the east and Purgatory Mountain on the west, and,
because this strip of land served as the gateway through which the travel to
and from the western settlements passed. In later years all the land in that’
et on both sides of the river was gotten togethér in one estate.
The beginning of this community must be credited to James Patton,
Robert Looney and his sons, Christopher Zimmerman, Benjamin Davis; James,
John and Robert Sloan, Erwin Patterson, James Lauderdale, w
William Harbison, Charles Milligan, Hugh Caruthers, Andrew MgcNeeley,
John Mills, Col. John Buchanan; James, Robert, Thomas and George Row-
land. Most of the other men given in the list were absentee land-owners, who
sold their holdings early to men who later became actual settlers.

James Patton did not live here, but this was the base for his operations in

the development of his interests in the western settlements and the village that
grew up where the road from the north came to the river at the mouth of
Purgatory Creek was named for him. It is said that after serving for a time in
the royal navy he became the owner of a passenger ship and carried many
people to Virginia landing them at Hobbes Hole on the Rappahannock River.
However, the people who took land with him on the James River and the
Roanoke and on Wood’s River were generally of an independent, thrifty class
of homeseeker from the older settlements of Virginia, Maryland and Pennsyl-
vania. From his home in Beverley Manor he passed this way to the settle-
ments farther west where he had located many tracts of land which he desired
to keep for his own family and where he was solicitous about the sale of other
tracts. He took notes from practically all purchasers of land and so had private
business with many people. As county-lieutenant, sheriff and collector of
duties on furs and other commodities of trading he had public duties for much
of his time. No special industries grew up at Looney’s Ferry or Pattonsburg,
but there was always passing there and some waiting and collecting of indi-
viduals coming into the country. His land on the river was taken up in four
different tracts and was valuable for its agricultural possibilities as well as for
its commercial situation. In his will, made in 1750, he showed his interest in
the place and tried to impress that interest upon his' family. “I leave to my
daughter Margaret now maryed to Colonel John Buchanan one negro woman
she now has in her possession & out of my money when my debts is paide of
another Negro woman to be immediately bought for her and also leaves her
four tracts of land neigh Robert Looneys one Cald the Cherry Tree Botom of
about three Hundred and thirty-six acres and one of Seventy one acres on the
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ugh Caruthers were processioners on the south side of the South Branch of
f{nes River joining RoanOke in 1747. Robert lived just above Lauderdale’s
on the land that became the home of Andrew Woods and later of the Simmons
family. James sold his land to John Mills in 1762; John sold to John Adams
in 1763; Robert, to Andrew Woods in 1767. They went to Rowan County,
North Carolina.

James Boyd’s grant of 340 acres on Lunie’s Mill Creek is one of the first
grants recorded. This was the beginning of the famous Mount Joy Estate.
Boyd sold to James Hughey, of South Carolina. Hughey sold to John Mills
and Mills to Mathew Harvey.

There is nothing to indicate that Robert Crockett lived on his tract of
land here. His family belongs to the Calf-pasture settlement. This was James
Moore’s place from 1753 until the Brughs came into possession of it at a much
Jater time.

A tract of 60 acres at the head of Mill Creek, patented to James Patton,
has some historic interest. It was sold to Charles Milligan in 1752, so the
branch running from the spring was called Milligan’s Run, to this place was
added 84 acres called Big Meadows. This was one of the division points in
the Great Road to the west.

JamesW ood reserved for himself 400 acres on both sides of the branch below
Beaver Dam Spring. The Spring itself was taken up later by Elias Linkenhoger.
Mary Wood, widow of James Wood, conveyed the 400acres to her son,John Wood.

Robert Rowland was one of the important pioneers of this period. His

/\pe was at the head of one of the north branches of Looney’s Mill Creek.
..e place has remained an important one even to the present time, and the
- family is yet well represented in this and contiguous territory.

Jokn Smith was closely associated with this community from the begin~
ning of the settlement. His land here was on the south side of Mill Creek ad-
joining the Looney land and Benjamin Davis. He purchased the Davis land
and entered the land on which Pattonsburg stood. All of this land was finally
acquired by Margaret Buchanan, but here was Col. Smith’s home and head-.

\ quarters until his death in 1778.
— (ol. John Buchanan lived at Cherry Tree Bottom from the spring of 1756
until his death in 1769.
The first processioners for Looney’s Mill Creek were John Sloane and
:  Hugh Caruthers appointed for the south side of the south branch of James
o+ River joining RoanOke. These men were succeeded in 1755 by Robert Looney,
It. and John Mills “on Looney’s Creek and the waters thereof.”

2. Catawba, Craig’s Creek and James River

The Name Catawba.—
. Mooney says that the origin and meaning of this name are unknown. It
% said that Lynche Creek in South Carolina, east of the Catawba territory,

f\
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of Potowmack, and the rest of the said County be another distinct Coum\
And that the Petition against the said Division be rejected.

Ordered, That a Bill be brought in for the better Security and Encourag,3
ment of the Inhabitants beyond the great Ridge of Mountains, with Power t,
receive a clause or Clauses, for dividing the County of Orange according to t},
said Resolution.:

On Oct. 10, 1744, a bill was presented to the House by Mr. Harrison
oblige the inhabitants of Augusta County to pay their proportion of the charg,
for running the dividing line between Augusta and Frederick Counties.:

BEVERLEY'S MANOR
The patent for William Beverley’s large grant on the Shenandoah was

issued to William Bevertey;of Essex; Sir John Randolph, of W'ilhamsburg;
Richard Randolph, of Henrico; and John Robinson, of King and Queen. The
tract contained 118,491 acres, embracing practically all of present Augusts
County. Beverley acquired the im
16 Tmprove his holdings. His Mill-place on Lewis Creek became the center fo:
the community activities of the new settlemernt and the seat of the court when
the new county was organized. People who had come upon the land were only
“squatters” until they had secured titles for their individual homesteads.
Beverley seems to have dealt fairly with the people and his name is honorec
unto this day.

William Beverley, of Essex County, was a son of Robert Beverley, the
historian, and was born about 1698. He was a lawyer, clerk of Essex County.
County-Lieutenant, member of the House of Burgesses, Member of the
Governor’s Council, Commissioner at the Treaty of Lancaster and com-
missioner to settle the boundary of Northern Neck. His home, ‘“Blanfield.”
on the Rappahannock has been considered one of the finest examples of colonia
architecture.

THE SETTLEMENT OF BEVERLEY MANOR

There is no way to find out how many people came into the upper Valley
before Augusta County was organized. Those who did come found desirable
places for homesteads along Middle River, South Branch, Lewis’ Creek and
Christian’s Creek. Most of the land selected fell in the bounds of Beverler
Manor and titles for the different parcels had to be secured by deed from Wm-
Beverley, of Essex. Although many of the inhabitants were on the groun:
from 1732 on, no deeds were recorded before February. 1738; and then th¢
first ones are found in the Urange records. The deed to John Lewis for 207}
acres is followed by eighty-eight others. The price of the land is usually abet:
one—lﬂilyllllg\pgr acre. The description of the boundaries is definite and th
tracts often contlguous There was enough solidarity about this most wester

1Journal of the House of Burgesses, Vol. 6, 338.
2Journal of the House of Burgesses, ¥ol. 7, 128.
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i, PIS acres on Hays Creek.
April 15, 1743, James Robinson—200 acres on Hays Creek.

May 10, 1743, Elizabeth Hunter—124 acres on Moffett’s Creek.

Prices paid for this land varied. John Patterson paid £12—12s for 420
acres. Joseph Lapsley paid £10—2s—10d for 883 acres. Alexander Craighead
paid £220 for 558 acres, in 1753. Richard Woods paid £17—2s for 570 acres.
Robert Poage paid £11—10s for 378 acres. John Moore paid £12 for 504 acres.

By going on to Catawba James Montgomery got 654 acres for £3.1

SOME LEADERS IN THE NEW SETTLEMENTS PROVE THEIR IMPORTATIONS IN
ORANGE, 1740

Among the importations from Ireland to Philadelphia thence to Orange
were:

David Mitchell, for himself, Martha, Sarah, Jane and Elizabeth;

John McDowell, for himself, wife Magdalene, Samuel McDowell and
John Rutter, all from Great Britain, 1737;

Ephraim McDowell, for himself, James and Margaret, by John McDowell,
Ephraim being old;

Alexander Breckenridge, for himself and John, Margaret, Elizabeth, John
Mulholan, James McAlegant, William and Elizabeth McCanless, and Agnes
Reed;

Robert Crockett, for himself, Margaret, John, Arsbell, Jane, Samuel,
Robert;

™ Patrick Campbell, for himself, Elizabeth, wife, Charles, William, Patrick,
James, John, Mary, Elizabeth, Jennett

Robert Ralston, for himself and wife, Martha.

Robert Poage, for himself, wife, Elizabeth, Margaret, John, Martha,
Sarah, George, Mary, Elizabeth, William, Robert;

John Smith, for himself, wife Margaret, Abraham, Henry, Daniel, John,
( Joseph and Robert McDowell; S
ms‘)—m vin, for himself, wife \Iar\ : _\Iarkham and Ehqueth

David Edmiston, for himself, Isabella, Jeane, John, William, Rachel,
David, Moses;

William Skillern, for himself, Elizabeth, George, William, Jessebel, Sarah;

William Hutchison, for himself, John, Sr. Margaret, John, Jr. Mary;

John Maxwell, for himself, Margaret, John, Sr. Thomas, Mary, Alexander;

James Davis, for himself, Mary, Henry, William, Samuel;

John Davidson, for himself, Jane, George, Thomas, William, Samuel.

CO

s 1A complete list of Borden’s deeds recorded in Augusta may be found in Chalkley’s Abstracts of the Records
< of Augusta County, Volume III, and in Morton’s History of Rockbridge County.
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THE SOUTHWEST FRONTIER BELOW THE MOUNTAINS'

On the south side of the James below the mountains the frontier at
time was represented by the Welsh settlement on the Meherrin; Col. B;
improvements on the Roanoke above Sandy Creek, including the three ch
ing islands, Sapponi, Occaneeche and Totero; Major Munford’s Quarter
by; Col. Byrd’s Land of Eden on the Dan and Major Mayo’s Survey adjoi
Richard and William Kennon’s grant on Cub Creek which supplied farms:
for John Caldwell’s Presbyterian Colony; Col. Richard Randolph’s Quart
the Mouth of Little Roanoke; Col. Clemment Read’s Bushy Forest Settlen
and John Irvine’s Hat Creek Colony. Nearer the mountains on the soul
branches of the James and the northern branches of the Staunton were
pioneers as Charles Lynch, Sr., David Ervin on the south side of Otter ]
opposite the Buffalo Lick, John Phelps on Otter River and between Bt
and Elk Creeks, Abraham Cocke on the north side of Roanoke, James D
on the ridge between the head branches of Buffalo and Elk Creeks, Th
Jones on the north side of Falling River and Col. John Bolling and Nic
Davies on the Fluvanna.

On the South eastern creeks were Richard Moore, Thomas Jackson,
Lynch, John Davis, Richard Vaughan, Thomas Lloyd, John Mason,
Coles, Harry Morris at Col. Byrd’s, Joseph Colson at Major Mumford’s,
Tomasin at Col. Stith’s, John Butcher an early adventurer and Peter Mit«
the highest inhabitant on Roancke River, about six miles above the
Among the first to become settled on Cub Creek were John and William (
well, James Logan, Willlam Fuqua, Andrew Cunningham, John Ste
David Logan, Thomas Cunningham, James Frankling, Thomas Daugh
Alexander McConel, Israel Pickings, William Harwood, Thomas Ve
David Caldwell, Richard Dudgeon, John McDaniel, James McLaughlin,

e lasdyg
Walke, James Caldwell, John Waller, James Walkup, Thomas Blanks, G«
Harwood, William Stewart, Richard Treadaway, John Orr, William Ru
ford, James Ferris, William Dudgeon. At Bushy Forest there were beside
Reads and Bouldins,.Coles, Mortons, Jenningses, Cobbs, Spencers, Mars|
Bedfords, McNesses, Carringtons, Erwins, Woodsons, Friends and Baldv

In 1740 some traders went among the Cherokees from Virginia.
employed a Mr. Vaughan as a packman to transport their goods. We
Amelia County, the country was then thinly inhabited; the last hunter’s «
that he saw was on Otter River, a branch of the Staunton, now in Be«
County, Virginia. The route pursued was along the Great Path, to the «
of the Cherokee nation.?

1A Journey to the Land of Eden by William Byrd.

The Cub Creek Settlement,

Early’s Campbell Chronicles and Family Sketches.

Virginia Land Office and Brunswick and Lunenburg County records.
2Ramsey’s Annals of Tennessee.





